
 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 09, 2021 

WORK SESSION 5:00 PM 

REGULAR MEETING 6:30PM 

 

APPROPRIATE AND CORRECTLY WORN FACE MASKS ARE REQUIRED WHILE ATTENDING BOARD MEETINGS. 

SHOULD YOU BE UNABLE TO WEAR A FACE MASK YOU CAN VIEW THE MEETING VIA THE TOWN OF PAONIA 

YOUTUBE CHANNEL. 
 

 

Work Session 
. Work Session Roll Call 

. 2022 Proposed Budget 

 

Roll Call 

Approval of Agenda 

Announcements 
. Announcements 

. Oath of Office - Police Officer Lance Kramer 

 

Recognition of Visitors & Guests 
1. Visitors & Guests 

Staff Reports 
2. Administrator’s Report 

Town Attorney Report 

Disbursements 
3. Disbursements 

 

Consent Agenda 

4. Regular Minutes: 

10/26/2021 

Special Minutes: 

10/28/2021 

 

Public Hearing 
5. Public Hearing - DMT Paonia, LLC Regulated Marijuana License 

6. Public Hearing - Paonia Purple, Inc. Regulated Marijuana License 

7. Public Hearing – Valley High, LLC Regulated Marijuana License 

New Business 
8. Executive Session  

For discussion of a personnel matter under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(f) and not involving: any specific 

employees who have requested discussion of the matter in open session; any member of this body or any 

elected official; the appointment of any person to fill an office of this body or of an elected official; or 

personnel policies that do not require the discussion of matters personal to particular employees; specific 

to the Town Administrator Corinne Ferguson Administrator Contract. 

9. Town Administrator Contract Review 

1



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

10. Impact Fee from Enterprise Funds to Streets Capital Fund Discussion 

Unfinished Business 
11. Main Avenue Fence 

12. Resolution 2021-08 Town Participation in the National Opioid Settlement in Support of The State of 

Colorado 

13. Town of Paonia Purchasing Policy Updates including Non-Essential Purchases 

14. Town Treasurer Position 

Mayor’s Report 
15. Mayor’s Report 

Adjournment 
16. Adjournment 

  

2



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

AS ADOPTED BY: 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-10 – Amended May 22, 2018 

 

I. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 

Section 1.  Schedule of Meetings.  Regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each 

month, except on legal holidays, or as re-scheduled or amended and posted on the agenda prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 

Section 2.  Officiating Officer.  The meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be conducted by the Mayor or, in the Mayor’s 

absence, the Mayor Pro-Tem.  The Town Clerk or a designee of the Board shall record the minutes of the meetings. 

 

Section 3.  Time of Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall begin at 6:30 p.m. or as scheduled and posted on 

the agenda. Board Members shall be called to order by the Mayor.  The meetings shall open with the presiding officer leading 

the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The Town Clerk shall then proceed to call the roll, note the absences and announce 

whether a quorum is present.  Regular Meetings are scheduled for three hours, and shall be adjourned at 9:30 p.m., unless a 

majority of the Board votes in the affirmative to extend the meeting, by a specific amount of time.  

 

Section 4. Schedule of Business.  If a quorum is present, the Board of Trustees shall proceed with the business before it, which 

shall be conducted in the following manner.  Note that all provided times are estimated:  

 

 (a) Roll Call - (5 minutes) 

 (b) Approval of Agenda - (5 minutes) 

 (c) Announcements (5 minutes) 

 (d) Recognition of Visitors and Guests (10 minutes) 

 (e) Consent Agenda including Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (10 minutes) 

 (f) Mayor’s Report (10 minutes) 

 (g) Staff Reports: (15 minutes) 

  (1) Town Administrator’s Report 

  (2) Public Works Reports  

  (3) Police Report 

  (4) Treasurer Report 

      

 (h) Unfinished Business (45 minutes) 

 (i) New Business (45 minutes) 

 (j) Disbursements (15 minutes) 

 (k) Committee Reports (15 minutes) 

 (l) Adjournment 

 

  * This schedule of business is subject to change and amendment. 

  

Section 5. Priority and Order of Business. Questions relative to the priority of business and order shall be decided by the Mayor 

without debate, subject in all cases to an appeal to the Board of Trustees.  

 

Section 6.  Conduct of Board Members.   Town Board Members shall treat other Board Members and the public in a civil and 

polite manner and shall comply with the Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials of the Town.  Board Members shall address 

Town Staff and the Mayor by his/her title, other Board Members by the title of Trustee or the appropriate honorific (i.e.: Mr., 

Mrs. or Ms.), and members of the public by the appropriate honorific.  Subject to the Mayor’s discretion, Board Members shall 

be limited to speaking two times when debating an item on the agenda.  Making a motion, asking a question or making a 

suggestion are not counted as speaking in a debate.  

 

Section 7. Presentations to the Board.  Items on the agenda presented by individuals, businesses or other organizations shall be 

given up to 5 minutes to make a presentation.  On certain issues, presenters may be given more time, as determined by the 

Mayor and Town Staff.  After the presentation, Trustees shall be given the opportunity to ask questions. 

 

Section 8. Public Comment.  After discussion of an agenda item by the Board of Trustees has concluded, the Mayor shall open 

the floor for comment from members of the public, who shall be allowed the opportunity to comment or ask questions on the 

agenda item.  Each member of the public wishing to address the Town Board shall be recognized by the presiding officer before 

speaking.  Members of the public shall speak from the podium, stating their name, the address of their residence and any group 

they are representing prior to making comment or asking a question.  Comments shall be directed to the Mayor or presiding 

officer, not to an individual Trustee or Town employee.  Comments or questions should be confined to the agenda item or issue(s) 

under discussion.  The speaker should offer factual information and refrain from obscene language and personal attacks. 

3



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

 

Section 9.  Unacceptable Behavior. Disruptive behavior shall result in expulsion from the meeting.   

 

Section 10.  Posting of Rules of Procedure for Paonia Board of Trustees Meetings. These rules of procedure shall be provided in 

the Town Hall meeting room for each Board of Trustees meeting so that all attendees know how the meeting will be conducted. 

 

II. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Section 1. Use of Consent Agenda. The Mayor, working with Town Staff, shall place items on the Consent Agenda. By using a 

Consent Agenda, the Board has consented to the consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a Consent 

Agenda be used at a meeting, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon request.  

Section 2. General Guidelines. Items for consent are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior to action 

by the Board, are non-controversial and/or similar in content, or are those items which have already been discussed or explained 

and do not require further discussion or explanation. Such agenda items may include ministerial tasks such as, but not limited 

to, approval of previous meeting minutes, approval of staff reports, addressing routine correspondence, approval of liquor 

licenses renewals and approval or extension of other Town licenses. Minor changes in the minutes such as non-material Scribner 

errors may be made without removing the minutes from the Consent Agenda.  Should any Trustee feel there is a material error 

in the minutes, they should request the minutes be removed from the Consent Agenda for Board discussion. 

Section 3. Removal of Item from Consent Agenda. One or more items may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a timely 

request of any Trustee. A request is timely if made prior to the vote on the Consent Agenda. The request does not require a 

second or a vote by the Board. An item removed from the Consent Agenda will then be discussed and acted on separately either 

immediately following the consideration of the Consent Agenda or placed later on the agenda, at the discretion of the Board.  

 

III.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Section 1.  An executive session may only be called at a regular or special Board meeting where official action may be taken by 

the Board, not at a work session of the Board.  To convene an executive session, the Board shall announce to the public in the 

open meeting the topic to be discussed in the executive session, including specific citation to the statute authorizing the Board 

to meet in an executive session and identifying the particular matter to be discussed “in as much detail as possible without 

compromising the purpose for which the executive session is authorized.” In the event the Board plans to discuss more than 

one of the authorized topics in the executive session, each should be announced, cited and described. Following the 

announcement of the intent to convene an executive session, a motion must then be made and seconded.  In order to go into 

executive session, there must be the affirmative vote of two thirds (2/3) of Members of the Board. 

 

Section 2.  During executive session, minutes or notes of the deliberations should not be taken. Since meeting minutes are subject 

to inspection under the Colorado Open Records Act, the keeping of minutes would defeat the private nature of executive 

session. In addition, the deliberations carried out during executive session should not be discussed outside of that session or 

with individuals not participating in the session.  The contexts of an executive session are to remain confidential unless a 

majority of the Trustees vote to disclose the contents of the executive session. 

 

Section 3.  Once the deliberations have taken place in executive session, the Board should reconvene in regular session to take 

any formal action decided upon during the executive session.  If you have questions regarding the wording of the motion or 

whether any other information should be disclosed on the record, it is essential for you to consult with the Town Attorney on 

these matters. 

 

 

IV. SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT 

 

Section 1. Deviations.  The Board may deviate from the procedures set forth in this Resolution, if, in its sole discretion, such 

deviation is necessary under the circumstances. 

Section 2.  Amendment.   The Board may amend these Rules of Procedures Policy from time to time. 

4



 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Work Session Roll Call 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

5



 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

2022 Proposed Budget – Continued 

   RCAC – Cost of Service Analysis Report 

Summary:   

Continued budget work session for Board review and direction regarding the 2022 budget. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

6



 

November 2021 

Author: Ty Long, RCAC 

 

 

Paonia Drinking Water  

Cost-of-Service Analysis 

 
Rural Community  
Assistance Corporation 
 

                                                                 

  

7



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 2      

Table of Contents 

 
1 Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

2 System Basic Statistics ...................................................................................................................... 6 

3 Current Financial condition and analysis ........................................................................................ 11 

4 Future Financial condition and Rate Scenarios ............................................................................... 17 

5 Recommendations .......................................................................................................................... 26 

 

  

8



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 3      

Executive Summary  
In August 2021 Paonia town staff reached out to RCAC to inquire about completing a cost-of-service 
analysis for the drinking water system. The town had multiple considerations they were hoping to 
address with the cost-of-service analysis: 

1. Current financial sustainability given current expenses and revenues associated with the 
drinking water system.  

2. The Town had recently completed an Asset Management Plan through SGM engineers as 
well as a Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) through JDS Hydro. Through both documents, 
Town staff were made aware of aging infrastructure. The analysis addressed future CIP 
projects and the associated impacts to future expenses. 

3. Consider alternative rate structures and classifications and their associated impacts on 
revenue generated and affordability.  

RCAC met with Town staff to acquire the needed documentation to complete the cost-of-service 
analysis and presented preliminary findings at a publicly held workshop on November 2, 2021, to the 
Board of Trustees, Paonia Town staff and community members.  

Preliminary findings indicated that the Town’s water enterprise was sufficient to meet debt service 
requirements and Operation & Maintenance expenses but was not fully funding a Capital Improvement 
Reserve. 

During the publicly held workshop, the Board of Trustees asked to see multiple scenarios for rate 
increases as well as an alternative to reduce the number of tiers in their usage structure. Alternative tier 
structure is identified in Table 14. 

Six (6) scenarios are provided in this document to the Board of Trustees found on pages 20-25 and 
include: 

1. Do Nothing 
2. Base rate increase needed to meet expectations found on page 19. 
3. Annual base rate increases needed to meet expectations found on page 19. 
4. Funding the CIP reserve for projects needing replacement in 30 years. 
5. Funding the CIP reserve for projects needing replacement in 50 years.  
6. An initial base rate increase plus annual base rate increases in subsequent years. 

Scenarios 1, 4 & 5 would require no change to current rates to meet expectations found on page 19.  

Scenarios 2, 3 & 6 best reflect the true cost-of-service of providing drinking water to customers. It is 
recommended that the Board of Trustees consider one of these three (3) scenarios as potential drinking 
water rates as best reflects their community priorities.  

 

  

9



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 4      

1 Introduction 
1.1 Introduction 

1.1.1  
Founded in 1978, RCAC provides training, technical, and financial resources and advocacy so rural 
communities can achieve their goals. Since 1978, our dedicated staff and active board, coupled 
with our key values: leadership, collaboration, commitment, quality, and integrity, have helped 
effect positive change in rural communities across the West. 
RCAC’s work includes environmental infrastructure (water, wastewater and solid waste facilities); 
affordable housing development; economic and leadership development; and community 
development finance. These services are available to communities with populations of fewer than 
50,000, other nonprofit groups, Tribal organizations, farmworkers, colonias and other specific 
populations. Headquartered in West Sacramento, California, RCAC’s employees serve rural 
communities in 13 western states and the Pacific islands. 
 

1.1.2 Purpose of Cost-of-Service Analysis 
 

In August 2021 Paonia town staff reached out to RCAC to inquire about completing a cost-of-
service analysis for the drinking water system. The town had multiple considerations they were 
hoping to address with the cost-of-service analysis: 

4. Current financial sustainability given current expenses and revenues associated with the 
drinking water system.  

5. The Town had recently completed an Asset Management Plan through SGM engineers as 
well as a Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) through JDS Hydro. Through both documents, 
Town staff were made aware of aging infrastructure. The analysis will address future CIP 
projects and the associated impacts to future expenses. 

6. Consider alternative rate structures and classifications and their associated impacts on 
revenue generated and affordability.  

Guiding principles used throughout cost-of-service analysis and recommendations.  

1. Must achieve a balanced budget. 
2. Promote conservation. 
3. Usage structure can be simplified. 
4. Balance between affordability, equality/fairness and revenues required.  
5. Meet debt obligations. 

RCAC met with the Town Board of Trustees, staff, and community members in a public meeting 
workshop on November 2, 2021, to discuss cost-of-service preliminary findings. At the conclusion 
of the workshop the Trustees agreed upon three (3) different scenarios they would like to 
consider:  

1. What is the 5-year budget projection if an eight (8) dollar increase in base rates across all 
classifications were to be implemented? 

2. What initial base rate increase would be needed if an annual percentage increase was 
implemented on base rates to maintain financial sustainability.  

10



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 5      

3. What base rate is needed if CIP were to be funded with asset reaching life cycle expectancy 
within 30-years and 50-years.  
 

1.1.3  Board Responsibilities 
  
The Board of Trustees has a fiduciary responsibility to ensure that the water enterprise remains 
financially solvent while also providing customers with safe, affordable drinking water.  

 
1.1.4 Disclaimer  

  
The findings, recommendations, and conclusions contained in this financial analysis are based 
on financial information provided to RCAC by the Town of Paonia. Although reasonable care was 
made to assure the reliability of this information, no warranty is expressed or implied as to the 
correctness, accuracy or completeness of the information contained herein. Any action taken on 
the basis of such findings, recommendations, or conclusions is undertaken at the discretion of 
the Town of Paonia. In no event will RCAC or its partners, employees, or agents, be liable for any 
decision made or action taken in reliance on the information contained in this analysis. 
 

  

11



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 6      

2 System Basic Statistics 
2.1 Community 

2.1.1 Location & Map  

Figure 1. Google Maps 

2.1.2 History 
 

The town was officially incorporated in 1902 and had its first election in July of that 
year. The peony roots that Samuel Wade brought with him to Colorado in 1881 
inspired him to submit the Latin name for peony, “Paeonia” as a town name. The 
post office wouldn’t allow the extra vowel, so Paeonia became Paonia. Significant 
industries include ranching, mining, and orchard farming. Paonia History, 2021. 
https://townofpaonia.colorado.gov/history/paonia-history. 
 

2.1.3 Legal Entity  
 

Per Paonia Ordinance 2014-04,  
WHEREAS, the Town of Paonia (the "Town"), is a duly organized and existing statutory 
municipality of the State of Colorado, created and operating pursuant to the Colorado 
Revised Statutes; and 
WHEREAS, the members of the Board of Trustees of Paonia (the "Board") have been 
duly elected and qualified; and 
WHEREAS, pursuant to 1-16-202, C.R.S, the Town is authorized to enact any ordinance 
which adopts any code by reference in whole or in part. 
 

2.1.4 Governing body/staff 
 

Paonia governmental structure is mayor-council. Six (6) duly elected Board of Trustees 
and an elected Mayor.  
 

2.1.5 MHI and % LMI 
According to the 2020 census, Paonia has 1,447 residents and an Median Household 
Income (MHI) of $41,683 which is below the MHI for the State of Colorado at $77, 127. 
% LMI data is not available at the time of this report.  

2.2  System Description  

12

https://townofpaonia.colorado.gov/history/paonia-history


 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 7      

2.2.1 Service area 
The Town of Paonia is roughly 1 sq. mile. However, the Town provides water to a 
number of Water Companies that exist outside of city limits.  
 

2.2.2 System history 
The system is supplied by roughly 15 active wells (Loberg, 2021) and consists of and 
associated raw water infrastructure, two water treatment plants, two finished water 
storage tanks, and multiple miles of distribution piping. The Town’s treated water 
distribution system consists of approximately 22.7 miles of piping, all fed by gravity from 
the WTP (SGM, 2021. p. 3-1.) 
During 2020, the Town implemented Ordinance 2020-1, which places a moratorium on 
future domestic water taps. Additionally, water rates were increased.  

2.3  Customer Base description 

 

Figure 2. Number of Users per Classification. 

Figure 2 lists the number of users per classification in accordance with billing practices. Two (2) 
considerations were made to determine values. First, water companies were accounted for by 
number of connections. For example, if Water Company X has 40 service connections, the 
number of users equals 40. Second, some users are billed multiple “units”. These situations 
were accounted for in the same manner as water companies. With these considerations in 
place, the total number of users is 1575. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

79
1

61
2

16
1

11

I N  T O W N  
R E S I D E N T I A L

O U T  O F  T O W N  
R E S I D E N T I A L

I N  T O W N  
C O M M E R C I A L

O U T  O F  T O W N  
C O M M E R C I A L

NUMBER OF USERS/CLASSIFICATION

13



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 8      

2.4  Customer water use statistics  

 

Figure 3. Average Monthly Water Use 

 
 

 

Figure 4. Average Monthly Water Use per Classification. 

 

 

 

 

 

0
2000
4000
6000
8000

10000
12000
14000
16000
18000

Average Monthly Water Use

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

Ga
llo

ns

Average Monthly Water Use per Classification

In Town Residential Out of Town Residential

In Town Commercial Out of Town Commercial

14



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 9      

Total Annual 
Use/Customer   

Average Monthly 
Use/Customer 

17608 10th Percentile   1467 10th Percentile 
33000 20th Percentile   2750 20th Percentile 
48744 30th Percentile   4062 30th Percentile 
56880 40th Percentile   4740 40th Percentile 
77300 50th Percentile   6442 50th Percentile 
87242 60th Percentile   7270 60th Percentile 

104562 70th Percentile   8714 70th Percentile 
146756 80th Percentile   12230 80th Percentile 
241970 90th Percentile   20164 90th Percentile 
          

39060 25th Percentile   3255 25th Percentile 
77300 50th Percentile   6442 50th Percentile 

121980 75th Percentile   10165 75th Percentile 
Table 1. Percentile Usage/Customer 

Table 1 is a breakdown of usage/customer for annual total usage and monthly average water 
use. Using this information, it can be inferred that 50% of all customers use less than 77,300 
gal/year or 6,442 gal/month.  

  
2.5  Current water rate structure 

The Town of Paonia uses a Tiered Block rate structure and four (4) classifications (Table 2). Base 
rates are variable based on classification (Table 3), and usage rates are the same across all 
classifications (Table 4). 

 

Table 2. Current User Classifications. (Resolution 2020-18) 

 

Table 3. Current Base Rate/Classification (Resolution 2020-18) 

15



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 10      

Gallons 
Cost/1,000 

Gallons 
1 - 1,000 $        2.40 
1,001 - 3,000 $        2.70 
3,001 - 5,000 $        3.00 
5,001 - 10,000 $        3.30 
10,001 - 15,000 $        3.60 
15,001 - 20,000 $        3.90 
20,001 - 30,000 $        4.20 
30,001 - 40,000 $        4.50 
40,001 - 50,000 $        8.50 
50,001 - 75,000 $     10.00 
75,001 - 100,000 $     11.00 
100,001 or more $     12.00 

Table 4. Current Usage Rates (Resolution 2020-18) 

 
2.6  Future population and usage projections 

The Town of Paonia has currently enacted a moratorium on new water taps (Ordinance 2020-1) and 
therefore future population projections are 0%. Usage projections are estimated to 0% for the first 
two (2) years, followed by a 1% growth each year. It is assumed that customers will limit their usage 
immediately following a rate increase due to cost uncertainty. There is also an assumption that 
conservation will increase 1% year over year. Water conservation is a priority for the Town of Paonia 
given the uncertainty of potential drought and water supply.  
 

 

Table 5. Conservation and Usage Factors. 

  

16



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 11      

3 Current Financial condition and analysis 
3.1  Current rate schedule/structure 

3.1.1 Customers are billed on a monthly basis. During winter months, some customers’ 
meters are unable to be read. During these months customers are billed, however, water bills 
are reconciled, typically in April, when meters are read. Tables 1-4 describe the current rate 
structure and classifications.  

3.1.2 The current structure has some advantages and disadvantages. Currently, the 
classification system, which utilizes a more zoning concept is simple to administer and easy to 
determine. However, it does not necessarily reflect the impact that a customer may have on the 
water system, specifically water supply and needed infrastructure. It would be recommended 
that the Town move to a rate structure based on meter size. This would likely require a multi-
year process of evaluating specific customer water usage demands and the replacement of 
meters to meet usage demand.  

Another consideration is the number of usage tiers currently utilized. There are 12 tiers 
which are used calculate the usage costs. While this structure does capture more specific usage 
and costs associated, it can be more challenging to administer and may be more difficult for 
customers to fully understand their water bills. It is recommended that the Town consider 
reducing the number of usage tiers and recalculate usage rates to ensure revenue generated 
meets expenses and funder requirements.   

3.2  Current budget 
3.2.1 Historical revenue and expenses 

 

Table 6. Historical O&M Expense Budget 

The historical O&M expense budget was created using the 2019 audit, 2020 budget and 2021 
budget. The projection for the following years is based on a compounding 3.0% inflation rate.  

17



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 12      

Table 7 is other expenses identified on the 2019 Audit, 2020 and 2021 Budgets. Replacement of 
Existing, funded and additional capital assets are calculated through the CIP and can be seen in 
Table 17. Total expenses identified are both O&M expenses and CIP expenses, assuming a fully 
funded CIP program. One scenario asked by the Board of Trustees to consider is the effect on 
cost-of-service for a CIP that is funded through 30 & 50 years. This scenario will be discussed 
further in the report, but there will be a reduction in the total expenses due to only partial 
funding of the CIP.  

  

 
3.3 Current dedicated reserves 

3.3.1 Operations & Maintenance Reserve 
The O&M Reserve defined within the model an account worth 45 days of expenditures. The 
intent with this reserve is to maintain enough monies to cover 1.5x billing cycle to cover 
monthly or frequent expenditures. This reserve is designed to be very liquid and is typically 
consider funds found within a checking account or cash on hand. Under the agreement set forth 
by the Water & Power Authority, a current funder for the Town, the operation and maintenance 
reserve must maintain at least 3 months of expenditures minus depreciation (2020 Audit, p. 41) 

3.3.2 Emergency Reserve 
Emergency reserves are typically considered in an organizational savings account. The monies 
are very liquid but are not expected to be used unless an emergency occurs and therefore, are 
placed in an account to earn interest if possible. The emergency reserve is typically tied directly 
to the replacement or repair cost of the most critical asset within the system. 

3.3.3 Debt:  
Debt reserves are typically required by funders as a mechanism to ensure that borrowers are 
able to pay back loans. These types of debts are commonly associated with major Capital 
Improvement projects. The Town currently holds two notes: one with the Water & Power 
Authority and the with the Colorado State Revolving Fund. Under the current agreements, the 
Town pledged revenues is required to provide rates and charges in order to maintain coverage 

18



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 13      

of 110% of the debt service due on the governmental agency bond coming due in each calendar 
year (2020 Audit, p. 40). 
 

3.3.3.1 Capital improvement:   
There is currently $382,000 set aside for Capital Reserves.  
 

Table 9. Existing Reserves. 

It is important to note that the Town using different terms for the reserves and due to 
funder requirements, funds may be held in differently named accounts from Table 9, however, 
their use is the same. As an example, $164,000 is dedicated to the WPA O&M reserve 
requirement and is held within the Town’s O&M reserve, per the funding agreement. But to 
ensure that the funds are accounted for appropriately with the cost-of-service model, these 
funds have been placed under the existing debt requirements with no annual payment 
requirement. This is the explanation for the low operating reserve seen above. The Town, as of 
November 2, 2021, held $485,785 in the Operating Reserve. This value included the emergency 
reserve as well as the 3-month O&M reserve. 

  

3.4  Analysis of current financial condition 
3.4.1 Revenue sufficiency associated with current rates  

Current base and usage rates are meet debt service and all reserve requirements except for CIP. 
The water enterprise has a balanced budget but is not fully funding the CIP program. In order to 
fund projects according to guidance given by Town staff, rates will need to increase. An 
important caveat to make is that due to the high number of usage tiers employed but the 
Town’s current structure, the model could not account for all tiers (Table 11). Some tiers were 

19



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 14      

combined using average rates across the tiers. This methodology, while not exact, does provide 
an accurate depiction of the Town’s current financial condition related to the water enterprise.  
 

 

Table 10. 5-year Budget Projection with a fully funded CIP at current rates. 

 

Table 11. Tier Structure and Associated Rates to Assess Current Financial Condition. 

3.4.2 Rate equability and affordability criteria of current rates. 

 

Table 12. Water Usage vs. Revenue Paid per Classification. 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

In Town Residential Out of Town Residental In Town Commercial Out of Town
Commercial

% Water Used % Revenue Paid

20



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 15      

 

Table 13. Water Usage vs. Revenue Paid per Usage Tier. 

 

Table 14. Proposed Usage Tiers. 

 

Keep in mind that no rate structure with a base rate and commodity or usage charge will be 100% 
equitable.  

Tables 12-14 provide valuable information about water usage as it relates to revenues paid. Table 12 
looks at classification while Table 13 is looking at tier structure. Table 13 & 14 also include customers 
whose usage falls within that tier.  

A few insights using Tables 12-14. 

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

%Gal %Revenue % User

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

Water used Revenue paid User %

21



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 16      

• There is reasonable equability between user classifications. However, In-Town Residential 
customers are paying higher cost/1000 gallons than Out-of-Town Residential, even with the 
difference in base rate.  

• 73% of all customers use on average less than 10,000 gallons/month (Table 14). 
• Equability across the tier structure is within reason. Although customers who use between 

10,000 gallons/month and 50,000 gallons/month should likely be paying more per month in 
revenue.  

• Table 14 information generated using Table 15 usage rates. 

 

Table 15. Proposed usage tiers and rates. 

 

Affordability criteria- 

According to AWWA, affordability using MHI is defined has less than 2.5%. Using 2020 census data, 
Paonia’s MHI was $41,683. Applying AWWA’s criteria, this would mean that the average customer’s 
water bill must remain at or below $86.84. (Improving the Evaluation of Household-Level Affordability in 
SDWA Rulemaking: New Approaches, April 2021). Current rates are below this threshold.  
 
 

 
Table 16.Affordability calculation 

  

22



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 17      

4 Future Financial condition and Rate Scenarios 
4.1  Capital projects planned 

 

23



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 18      

Table 16 is an entire list of all water assets that could be identified. Cost estimates were derived from a 
recent SGM Capital Improvement Plan, JDS Hydro and Travis Loberg, Paonia PW Director.  

The table is considering age of asset, expected life, and current cost. Using this data, along with funding 
expectations in Table 17 and annual inflation costs, an estimated annual reserve is calculated for each 
asset. In total, to fully fund the CIP, the Town must dedicate $1,360,746/year to Capital Reserves.  

 

Table 18. Expected Funding Rates based on cost of asset. 

  

24



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 19      

 
 

4.2  Suggested rates 
Based on a public workshop held on November 2, 2021, The Board of Trustees listed four (4) 
scenarios they would like to consider. Scenarios 1 & 6 are suggested alternatives provided by the 
author.  
  

1. Do nothing  
2. What would be the needed base rate increase to meet expectations listed below? 
3. What would be the 5-year budget impact if annual increases were placed on base rates and 

what effect would this have on initial base rate increase for 2022?  
4. What would the 5-year budget impact be if the CIP was only funded with asset replacement 

for 30 years? 
5. What would the 5-year budget impact be if the CIP was only funded with asset replacement 

for 50 years? 

Requirements to be met, if possible, by each recommendation: 

1. Positive contribution to the CIP reserve year over year.  
2. By year 4, a net positive contribution to CIP reserve.  
3. Affordability to remain below 2.75%. 
4. Equability and fairness be maintained across customer class be maintained.  

Assumption 

1. Proposed usage tiers and rates in Table 14 will be used for each scenario. Note that there is 
no usage charge for customers that use under 1000/month. This is offset some costs 
associated with the potential base rate increases. 

  

25



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 20      

Scenario 1. Do nothing 

 
A balance budget would be achieved but the CIP program would be severely impacted and within 5-
years would under funded by roughly $1.55M. Not recommended.  

  

26



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 21      

 

Scenario 2. What is the needed base rate increase across all 
classifications?  

 

The cost-of-service model suggests that a $5/month increase in base rates will meet the expectations identified 
on page 19. It also keeps 2022 rates under the affordability threshold of 2.5%. However, after 5-years, the CIP 
still runs a significant deficit.  

  

27



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 22      

Scenario 3. Annual Increase in Base Rate. 

  
Scenario 3 meets all expectations outlined on page 19 and is similar to Scenario 2 expect that contributions to 
reserves is less in 2022 and 2023, but is increased in 2025 & 2026. This scenario also better meets the 
affordability threshold in 2022 & 2023 but becomes more unaffordable than Scenario 2 in 2025 & 2026. Finally, 
the 5-year projection for Capital reserve funding is less than in Scenario 2. After 5 years, the base rate for an In-
Town Residential user will be $39.21.  

  

28



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 23      

Scenario 4. Annual Increase in Base Rate needed if CIP is funded 
through 30-year Assets. 

 
This scenario does meet all of the expectations set on page 19; however, it does not fully fund the CIP. An 
important concept when discussing the true cost-of-service is that customers are using the infrastructure today 
and should be responsible for paying for that use, regardless of age. This scenario is suggesting that customers 
should not be paying for infrastructure they are using if it does not need to be replaced in the next 30 years. This 
scenario is not recommended. 

29



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 24      

Scenario 5. Annual Increase in Base Rate needed if CIP is funded 
through 50-year Assets. 

 
This scenario does meet all of the expectations set on page 19; however, it does not fully fund the CIP. An 
important concept when discussing the true cost-of-service is that customers are using the infrastructure today 
and should be responsible for paying for that use, regardless of age. This scenario is suggesting that customers 
should not be paying for infrastructure they are using if it does not need to be replaced in the next 50 years. This 
scenario is not recommended.  

30



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 25      

Scenario 6. Annual Increase in Base Rate and Years 3 & 4 Annual Base 
Rate Increase.  

 
This Scenario is a combination of Scenarios 2 & 3 where an initial base rate increase of $5 is applied with a 
subsequent 3% increase in base rates for Years 3 & 4 while meeting expectations on page 19. In Year 5, the base 
rate for an In-Town Residential user will be $39.25 compared to Scenario 3 where $39.21. Affordability is 
consistent with Scenario 3 and the Capital Reserve deficit is reduced by $106,000 and $173,000 for Scenario 2 & 3 
respectively.   

31



 
COST-OF-SERVICE ANALYSIS PAONIA, CO 2021 | 26      

5 Recommendations  
5.1  Summary of rates, reserve funding, other recommendations 

5.1.1 Recommendations for improving financial position  
The Town does need to increase revenues for the water enterprise. Given that the Town 
has enacted a moratorium on new water taps, revenues will need to be generated from 
existing customers. This can be done with an initial base rate increase as seen in 
Scenario 2, a gradual but steady increase in base rates through a percent increase year 
over year as seen in Scenario 3, or a combination as seen in Scenario 6.  

5.1.2 Reserve Funding  
All reserve requirements are being met except for the capital improvement reserve. This 
is main reason for the needed rate increase. Future projects along with currently aging 
infrastructure will place a heavy burden on customers in future years if adjustments are 
not made.  

5.1.2.1 Alternatives  
There are a number of alternatives that the Town can consider to increase revenues. 
Initial increase in base rates, increase usage rates, an annual percent increase in base 
rates or usage rates. An alternative was given to reduce the usage tier structure from 12 
to 8. This reduction placed a similar amount of revenue generated through usage 
charges as the current structure. The town has a heavy reliance on usage rates to cover 
expenses. This does lower the base rate, but if water usage declines, so does revenues 
and maintaining revenues equal to expenses is important to financial sustainability.  

5.1.2.2 If no action is taken, the Town will continue to debt service requirements but will struggle to 
meet O&M costs due to rising costs and inflation. A do-nothing approach is not 
recommended.  

5.1.2.3 One consideration for the Town to potentially decrease CIP costs is to consider grants and 
loans for assets between $50,000 and $1M. Currently, the Town would fund these projects 
50% cash/ 50% grant. While this is feasible, one way to reduce the initial cost is to take out 
loans. While not the most cost effective, they do have the advantage of spreading the cost 
over longer terms which allows for all customers to contribute to the cost of the asset over 
its lifetime.  

32



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

PROPERTY TAXES 133,063.00           132,257.46           134,107.00                        135,279.78           150,121.00          

SALES TAX ‐ TOWN 17,730.00             75,247.95             991.00                                10,491.00             13,224.00            

SALES TAX ‐ COUNTY ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         45,000.00            

PENALTY & INTEREST 300.00                   408.33                   330.00                                399.07                   400.00                  

DELINQUENT TAX 50.00                     ‐                         30.00                                   14.26                     15.00                    

LIQUOR LICENSES 4,000.00               4,240.50               3,650.00                             5,009.00               5,000.00              

SPECIAL REVIEWS 2,000.00               1,666.30               1,000.00                             789.35                   750.00                  

INTEREST INCOME 11,200.00             9,690.27               10,400.00                           7,744.63               7,200.00              

LATE CHARGES 8,500.00               2,522.11               2,500.00                             7,075.00               7,075.00              

OTHER INCOME 250.00                   1.00                       ‐                                       73.25                     75.00                    

CONTRIBUTIONS ‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

REFUND OF EXP ‐                         10,706.23             ‐                                       4,842.76               1,500.00              

RESTITUTION 10,200.00             7,544.35               5,700.00                             1,474.71               1,500.00              

GRANT REVENUE ‐                         61,728.00             ‐                                       47,083.78             50,068.00            

187,293.00           307,227.77           158,708.00                        220,276.59           281,928.00          

TOTAL PAYROLL 58,711.00             48,801.80             33,169.00                           26,775.92             46,424.00            

WORK COMP 126.00                   126.00                   131.00                                123.90                   134.00                  

CONTRACT LABOR 529.09                   ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

OFFICE SUPPLIES 3,675.00               3,175.91               3,937.00                             4,008.66               4,375.00              

OPERATING SUPPLIES 725.00                   652.68                   721.00                                897.45                   690.00                  

POSTAGE 1,850.00               488.65                   450.00                                442.00                   695.00                  

LEGAL SERVICES 50,080.00             66,335.09             51,160.00                           48,024.88             73,153.00            

AUDIT & BUDGET EXPENSE 5,170.00               5,290.00               4,510.00                             4,500.00               4,500.00              

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE ‐                         325.00                   ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

TOWN HALL EXPENSE 10,765.00             11,272.11             11,683.00                           11,659.98             11,890.00            

TRAVEL & MEETINGS 10,700.00             909.22                   10,790.00                           1,616.02               3,950.00              

INSURANCE & BONDS 3,326.00               4,136.30               3,766.00                             4,747.88               2,780.00              

UTILITIES 4,800.00               4,473.29               4,405.00                             5,405.95               5,785.00              

TELEPHONE 1,950.00               1,156.85               1,147.00                             2,868.15               3,030.00              

PUBLISHING & ADS 3,600.00               1,605.73               1,500.00                             4,111.26               5,980.00              

DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 8,700.00               9,538.50               9,703.00                             9,794.69               11,880.00            

CNTY TREASURER'S FEE 3,000.00               2,812.45               2,810.00                             2,896.42               3,300.00              

DATA PROCESSING 11,825.00             12,814.16             13,726.00                           12,925.23             13,619.00            

MISCELLANEOUS (CDOT GRANT) ‐                         127,589.98           ‐                                       46,410.20             ‐                        

CULTURAL EVENTS ‐                         38.91                     850.00                                ‐                         ‐                        

HUMAN SERVICES 4,290.00               4,300.00               4,250.00                             4,100.00               4,675.00              

CAPITAL OUTLAY 4,000.00               53,222.55             ‐                                       ‐                         85,068.00            

TRANSFER (26,000.00)            28,968.00            

187,293.00           333,594.27           158,708.00                        220,276.59           281,928.00          

‐                         (26,366.50)            (0.00)                                   ‐                         (0.00)                     

2020

BUDGET

GENERAL FUND ‐ ADMINISTRATION

GENERAL FUND ‐ ADMINISTRATION

Page 1 of 19

33



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

BUILDING PERMITS 47,900.00             26,094.50             30,000.00                           28,917.40             30,000.00            

SALES TAX ‐ TOWN 13,297.44             1,194.00                             8,057.23               5,288.00              

47,900.00             39,391.94             31,194.00                          36,974.63             35,288.00            

TOTAL PAYROLL ‐                         4,992.37               2,518.00                             2,514.78               3,695.00              

WORKMANS COMPENSATION 12.00                     12.00                     18.00                                   16.20                     18.00                    

BUILDING INSPECTOR 40,000.00             30,837.50             26,800.00                           33,508.00             28,500.00            

OFFICE SUPPLIES 500.00                   53.18                     497.00                                12.85                     500.00                  

POSTAGE 25.00                     1.00                       50.00                                   ‐                         ‐                        

LEGAL SERVICES 1,200.00               585.00                   ‐                                       ‐                         750.00                  

INSURANCE & BONDS 775.00                   775.89                   776.00                                777.80                   880.00                  

PUBLISHING & ADS 100.00                   ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 935.00                   135.00                   535.00                                145.00                   945.00                  

43,547.00             37,391.94             31,194.00                          36,974.63             35,288.00            

4,353.00               2,000.00               0.00                                     ‐                         (0.00)                     

GENERAL FUND ‐ BUILDING

GENERAL FUND ‐ BUILDING

Page 2 of 19

34



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

S.O. AUTO TAXES 18,000.00             22,290.77             19,000.00                           23,315.39             23,315.00            

SALES TAX ‐ TOWN 183,074.00           151,428.37           173,957.00                        183,000.00           182,000.00          

SALES TAX ‐ COUNTY 115,000.00           142,648.51           126,700.00                        326,080.65           325,845.00          

BACK THE BADGE ‐                         162,000.00                        ‐                        

CIGARETTE TAX 1,275.00               1,490.60               1,400.00                             1,922.93               1,785.00              

MOTOR VEHICLE ‐ $1.50 2,500.00               2,612.20               2,625.00                             2,707.20               2,750.00              

MOTOR VEHICLE ‐ $2.50 3,500.00               3,718.77               3,720.00                             3,924.00               3,966.00              

COURT FINES 500.00                   717.28                   400.00                                835.00                   825.00                  

POLICE FINES 20,000.00             14,075.00             17,225.00                           16,356.00             27,650.00            

MISC FINES‐BONDS 200.00                   73.50                     190.00                   200.00                  

DOG TAGS 750.00                   311.00                   300.00                                250.00                   300.00                  

PD GRANT 12,970.00             1,352.68               5,400.00                             995.00                   6,000.00              

OTHER AGENCY CONT 20,000.00             20,000.00             10,000.00                           9,165.00              

VIN INSPECTIONS 1,200.00               1,195.00               1,155.00                             1,575.00               1,925.00              

378,969.00           361,913.68           523,882.00                        570,316.17           576,561.00          

TOTAL PAYROLL ‐                         259,701.76           418,805.00                        336,200.59           465,914.00          

WORK COMP 7,212.00               7,212.00               9,415.00                             8,972.49               9,690.00              

OFFICE SUPPLES 1,100.00               1,266.84               1,310.00                             511.02                   1,200.00              

OPERATING SUPPLIES 1,500.00               4,859.95               11,453.00                           6,995.79               6,910.00              

POSTAGE 300.00                   231.54                   235.00                                201.13                   254.00                  

LEGAL SERVICES 975.00                   4,587.88               2,500.00                             ‐                         2,500.00              

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 250.00                   360.00                   360.00                                ‐                         800.00                  

VEHICLE EXPENSE 11,800.00             6,774.79               10,535.00                           15,319.47             12,340.00            

TRAVEL & MEETINGS 6,500.00               719.34                   9,500.00                             8,440.55               10,100.00            

INSURANCE & BONDS 20,313.00             20,613.36             22,216.00                           22,800.83             25,764.00            

UTILITIES 2,200.00               1,768.14               1,800.00                             1,865.49               2,002.00              

TELEPHONE 4,250.00               2,078.08               3,265.00                             4,973.24               5,027.00              

PUBLISHING & ADS 50.00                     1,081.16               104.00                                1,109.27               230.00                  

DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 3,525.00               8,480.52               6,050.00                             5,019.08               4,685.00              

DATA PROCESSING 16,300.00             15,534.83             25,234.00                           16,806.23             28,070.00            

HUMAN SERVICES 600.00                   551.41                   1,100.00                             1,100.00               1,075.00              

PUBLIC SAFETY 76,875.00             335,821.60           523,882.00                        430,315.18           576,561.00          

302,094.00           26,092.08             0.00                                     140,000.99           (0.00)                     

GENERAL FUND ‐ PUBLIC SAFETY

GENERAL FUND ‐ PUBLIC SAFETY

Page 3 of 19

35



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

SALES TAX ‐ TOWN 118,197.00           94,928.95             140,631.00                        140,631.00           132,100.00          

SEVERANCE TAX 8,800.00               4,764.61               5,000.00                             1,304.84               1,300.00              

MINERAL LEASING 6,300.00               3,918.97               3,925.00                             7,219.37               6,680.00              

RENTS & ROYALTIES 6,900.00               7,396.48               9,422.00                             9,858.58               10,472.00            

PARK CONTRIBUTIONS ‐                         10,360.00             670.00                                6,033.00               ‐                        

GRANT REVENUE 2,654.21               ‐                         34,040.00            

OTHER AGENCY CONT 9,000.00               ‐                         9,000.00                             25.00                    

159,197.00           124,023.22           183,648.00                        165,071.79           184,592.00          

TOTAL PAYROLL 66,252.00             49,903.72             69,592.00                           59,349.75             90,752.00            

WORK COMP 1,375.00               1,375.00               1,768.00                             1,684.90               1,820.00              

CONTRACT LABOR ‐                         5,787.05               ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

OFFICE SUPPLIES 50.00                     16.24                     37.00                                   ‐                         ‐                        

OPERATING SUPPLIES 4,500.00               4,168.71               6,540.00                             5,241.13               6,107.00              

POSTAGE 49.61                     50.00                                   ‐                         50.00                    

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 6,290.00               3,699.27               5,684.00                             12,964.32             14,728.00            

VEHICLE EXPENSE 1,250.00               1,283.64               1,150.00                             5,469.48               4,475.00              

RENTALS ‐                         850.00                                635.67                   725.00                  

SHOP EXPENSE 1,000.00               2,448.16               1,082.00                             1,870.87               1,595.00              

INSURANCE & BONDS 4,045.00               4,079.42               3,718.00                             3,812.76               4,300.00              

UTILITIES 7,500.00               7,177.15               6,312.00                             7,377.02               7,895.00              

TELEPHONE 400.00                   481.41                   816.00                                701.09                   709.00                  

PUBLISHING & ADS 50.00                     43.68                     ‐                                       315.68                   146.00                  

FEES & PERMITS 750.00                   748.45                   749.00                                748.45                   750.00                  

MISCELLANEOUS ‐                         5,308.42               ‐                                       36,492.38             34,040.00            

CONTRACT SERVICES 3,000.00               2,274.13               3,000.00                             2,110.48               3,000.00              

CAPITAL OUTLAY 62,735.00             20,858.00             82,300.00                           26,297.81             13,500.00            

TRANSFER IN ‐ (OUT) ‐                         6,000.00               ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

PARKS 159,197.00           115,702.06           183,648.00                        165,071.79           184,592.00          

(0.00)                      8,321.16               0.00                                     ‐                         (0.00)                     

GENERAL FUND ‐ PARKS

GENERAL FUND ‐ PARKS

Page 4 of 19

36



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

SALES TAX ‐ TOWN 51,804.00             94,007.21             103,807.00                        86,290.77             127,388.00          

FRANCHISE TAX 58,800.00             57,753.65             58,580.00                           55,077.84             61,375.00            

MISCELLANEOUS INCOME ‐                         500.00                  

MISCELLANEOUS PERMITS 1,800.00               1,155.00               1,750.00                             1,875.00               1,450.00              

HIGHWAY USERS TAX 48,012.00             44,153.27             44,111.00                           53,056.86             49,916.00            

ROAD & BRIDGE 6,500.00               7,947.15               6,500.00                             8,177.99               8,050.00              

GRANT REVENUE 18,250.00            

RESERVE 18,250.00            

MOTOR FUEL TAX REFUND 1,500.00               1,179.14               1,550.00                             1,758.10               1,875.00              

168,416.00           206,195.42           216,298.00                        206,736.56           286,554.00          

TOTAL PAYROLL 71,691.55             52,953.02             112,030.00                        89,337.58             191,449.00          

WORK COMP 1,691.00               1,691.00               3,468.00                             3,305.00               3,570.00              

OFFICE SUPPLIES 29.97                     30.00                                   ‐                         ‐                        

OPERATING SUPPLIES 900.00                   661.00                   840.00                                103.51                   625.00                  

POSTAGE 50.00                     189.28                   190.00                                ‐                         ‐                        

LEGAL & ENGINEERING SERV 1,950.00               945.50                   ‐                                       4,237.50               36,755.00            

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 19,850.00             30,380.79             12,716.00                           34,225.20             8,510.00              

VEHICLE EXPENSE 7,500.00               9,863.65               7,155.00                             24,189.22             8,753.00              

RENTALS 1,064.00               ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

SHOP EXPENSE 4,000.00               3,063.48               1,879.00                             6,061.38               6,083.00              

TRAVEL & MEETINGS ‐                         31.66                     ‐                                       546.25                   ‐                        

INSURANCE & BONDS 8,548.45               8,744.63               3,317.00                             3,394.63               3,905.00              

UTILITIES 20,715.00             16,706.39             10,765.00                           9,919.52               10,620.00            

TELEPHONE 560.00                   832.41                   751.00                                722.65                   709.00                  

PUBLISHING & ADS 60.00                     ‐                         ‐                                       224.00                   75.00                    

DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 1.56                       ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

SNOW REMOVAL 17,400.00             8,455.65               8,157.00                             15,578.04             15,500.00            

CAPITAL OUTLAY 13,500.00             62,445.13             55,000.00                           ‐                         ‐                        

TRANSFERS 6,000.00               ‐                        

STREETS 168,416.00           204,059.12           216,298.00                        191,844.48           286,554.00          

(0.00)                      2,136.30               (0.00)                                   14,892.08             0.00                      

GENERAL FUND ‐ STREETS

GENERAL FUND ‐ STREETS

Page 5 of 19

37



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

INTEREST INCOME 10,300.00             4,265.58               7,000.00                             262.89                   300.00                  

BRIDGE RESERVE 40,000.00             40,000.00             40,000.00                           40,000.00             40,000.00            

RESERVES 3,000.00                             ‐                         80,000.00            

50,300.00             44,265.58             50,000.00                          40,262.89             120,300.00          

BRIDGE REPAIR 50,300.00             ‐                         50,000.00                           ‐                         120,300.00          

50,300.00             ‐                         50,000.00                           ‐                         120,300.00          

‐                         44,265.58             ‐                                       40,262.89             ‐                        

GENERAL FUND ‐ BRIDGE

GENERAL FUND ‐ BRIDGE

Page 6 of 19

38



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

GENERAL BEGINNING RESERVE 580,281.31           580,281.31           599,831.44                        599,831.44           904,154.08          

GENERAL INCOME 1,124,942.25       1,131,168.20       1,478,730.00                     1,348,805.31       1,485,223.00      

GENERAL EXPENSE 818,495.25           1,111,618.07       1,478,730.00                     1,044,482.67       1,485,223.00      

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT

NET CHANGE 306,447.00           19,550.13             0.00                                     304,322.64           (0.00)                     

GENERAL ENDING RESERVE 886,728.31           599,831.44           599,831.44                        904,154.08           904,154.08          

LESS CLASSIFIED FUND BALANCE

NONSPENDABLE

RESTRICTED

TABOR 33,748.27             33,935.05             44,361.90                          40,464.16             44,556.69            

COMMITTED

BRIDGE RESERVE 184,168.00           231,168.00                        231,168.00           110,868.00          

AIRPORT

ASSIGNED

CAPITAL PURCHASES

CAPITAL PROJECTS

TOTAL CLASSIFIED FUND BAL 33,748.27             218,103.05           275,529.90                        271,632.16           155,424.69          

UNASSIGNED FUND BAL 852,980.04           381,728.39           324,301.54                        632,521.92           748,729.39          

EST UNASSIGNED

10% 81,849.53             111,161.81           147,873.00                        104,448.27           148,522.30          

25% 204,623.81           277,904.52           369,682.50                        261,120.67           371,305.75          

50% 409,247.63           555,809.04           739,365.00                        522,241.34           742,611.50          

GENERAL FUND SUMMARY

Page 7 of 19

39



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

SALES TAX ‐ TOWN ‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       29,990.97             ‐                        

OPERATIONAL TAX 25,000.00                           ‐                         117,000.00          

LICENSE FEES 25,000.00            

IMPACT FEE 45,107.36             48,150.59             61,822.00                           54,175.71             ‐                        

TRANSFER 177,173.00                        ‐                         240,327.21          

RESERVES 87,759.89             ‐                         51,005.00                           ‐                         163,043.64          

132,867.25           48,150.59             315,000.00                        109,166.68           520,370.85          

CONTRACT LABOR‐ENGINEER 3,000.00               ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

REPAIR & MAINTENANCE‐MATERIAL 85,049.08             ‐                        

STREET CAPITAL 129,867.25           ‐                         315,000.00                        ‐                         520,370.85          

132,867.25           85,049.08             315,000.00                        ‐                         520,370.85          

‐                         (36,898.49)            ‐                                       109,166.68           ‐                        

BEGINNING RESERVE ‐                         90,775.00             53,876.51                           53,876.96            

INCOME ‐                         48,150.59             315,000.00                        109,166.68           520,370.85          

EXPENSE ‐                         85,049.08             315,000.00                        ‐                         520,370.85          

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT

NET CHANGE ‐                         (36,898.49)            ‐                                       109,166.68           ‐                        

ENDING RESERVE ‐                         53,876.51             53,876.51                          163,043.64           ‐                        

GENERAL FUND ‐ STREET CAPITAL

GENERAL FUND ‐ STREET CAPITAL

Page 8 of 19

40



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

SIDEWALK REVENUE 35,800.00             31,054.08             31,034.00                           30,737.49             31,068.00            

RESERVES ‐                         ‐                         ‐                         33,035.07            

TOTAL INCOME 35,800.00             31,054.08             31,034.00                           30,737.49             64,103.07            

LEGAL SERVICES 500.00                   ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 35,200.00             47,965.40             31,034.00                           555.00                   64,103.07            

PUBLISHING & ADS 100.00                   ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

TRANSFER ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 35,800.00             47,965.40             31,034.00                           555.00                   64,103.07            

‐                         (16,911.32)            ‐                                       30,182.49             ‐                        

BEGINNING RESERVE ‐                         16,105.28             2,852.58                             2,852.58               ‐                        

INCOME 35,800.00             31,054.08             31,034.00                           30,737.49             64,103.07            

EXPENSE 35,800.00             47,965.40             31,034.00                           555.00                   64,103.07            

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT

NET CHANGE ‐                         (16,911.32)            ‐                                       30,182.49             ‐                        

ENDING RESERVE ‐                         (806.04)                 2,852.58                             33,035.07             ‐                        

GENERAL FUND ‐ SIDEWALK

GENERAL FUND ‐ SIDEWALK

Page 9 of 19

41



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

335,000.00           ‐                         460,000.00                        ‐                         460,000.00          

TOTAL INCOME 335,000.00           ‐                         460,000.00                        ‐                         460,000.00          

335,000.00           ‐                         460,000.00                        460,000.00          

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 335,000.00           ‐                         460,000.00                        ‐                         460,000.00          

‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

BEGINNING RESERVE ‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                        

INCOME 335,000.00           ‐                         460,000.00                        ‐                         460,000.00          

EXPENSE 335,000.00           ‐                         460,000.00                        ‐                         460,000.00          

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT ‐                         ‐                        

NET CHANGE ‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

ENDING RESERVE ‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

PASS THROUGH GRANT FUND

PASS THROUGH GRANT FUND SUMMARY

Page 10 of 19

42



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

BOETTCHER 150,000.00           ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

CCI 45,000.00             ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

INTEREST 200.00                   41.08                     ‐                                       18.14                     ‐                        

RESERVES 13,163.57                           ‐                         ‐                        

TOTAL INCOME 195,200.00           41.08                     13,163.57                           18.14                     ‐                        

POSTAGE ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES ‐                         ‐                                       13,183.38             ‐                        

TRAVEL & MEETINGS ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

PUBLISHING & ADS ‐                                       ‐                        

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 195,200.00           ‐                         13,163.57                           13,183.38             ‐                        

‐                         41.08                     ‐                                       (13,165.24)            ‐                        

BEGINNING RESERVE 13,124.16             13,124.16             13,165.24                           13,165.24            

INCOME 195,200.00           41.08                     13,163.57                           18.14                     ‐                        

EXPENSE 195,200.00           ‐                         13,163.57                           13,183.38             ‐                        

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT

NET CHANGE ‐                         41.08                     ‐                                       (13,165.24)            ‐                        

ENDING RESERVE 13,124.16             13,165.24             13,165.24                          0.00                       ‐                        

SPACE 2 CREATE

SPACE 2 CREATE FUND SUMMARY

Page 11 of 19

43



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

CONSERVATION TRUST 9,000.00               7,590.44               7,492.00                             8,741.55               8,500.00              

INTEREST 8.00                       4.02                       3.00                                     14.78                     15.00                    

RESERVES 6,337.67                             17,067.56            

TOTAL INCOME 9,008.00               7,594.46               13,832.67                           8,756.33               25,582.56            

EXPENDITURES‐CTF 9,008.00               600.00                   13,832.67                           ‐                         25,582.56            

TRANSFER ‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 9,008.00               600.00                   13,832.67                           ‐                         25,582.56            

‐                         6,994.46               ‐                                       8,756.33               ‐                        

CONS TRUST BEGINNING RESERVE 1,316.77               1,316.77               8,311.23                             8,311.23              

CONS TRUST INCOME 9,008.00               7,594.46               13,832.67                           8,756.33               25,582.56            

CONS TRUST EXPENSE 9,008.00               600.00                   13,832.67                           ‐                         25,582.56            

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT

NET CHANGE ‐                         6,994.46               ‐                                       8,756.33               0.00                      

CONS TRUST ENDING RESERVE 1,316.77               8,311.23               8,311.23                             17,067.56             0.00                      

CONSERVATION TRUST FUND

CONSERVATION TRUST FUND SUMMARY

Page 12 of 19

44



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

SALES TAX ‐ CAP. IMPROVEMENTS 187,500.00           214,454.96           210,290.00                        214,235.00           230,000.00          

AIRPORT 7,650.00               7,650.00               7,650.00                             7,650.00               7,650.00              

MISCELLANEOUS 500.00                   ‐                        

RESERVES 3,600.00               ‐                         268,586.49                        343,907.21           492,258.47          

TOTAL INCOME 198,750.00           222,604.96           486,526.49                        565,792.21           729,908.47          

CAPITAL OUTLAY 187,500.00           216,847.73           309,353.03                        505,600.21           421,739.26          

AIRPORT 11,250.00             60,192.00             19,842.00            

TRANSFERS ‐                         177,173.46                        ‐                         240,327.21          

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 198,750.00           216,847.73           486,526.49                        565,792.21           681,908.47          

‐                         5,757.23               ‐                                       ‐                         48,000.00            

CAPITAL FUND BEGINNING RESERVE 338,149.98           338,149.98           343,907.21                        343,907.21          

CAPITAL INCOME 198,750.00           222,604.96           486,526.49                        565,792.21           729,908.47          

CAPITAL EXPENSE 198,750.00           216,847.73           486,526.49                        565,792.21           681,908.47          

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT

NET CHANGE ‐                         5,757.23               ‐                                       0.00                       48,000.00            

CAPITAL FUND ENDING RESERVE 338,149.98           343,907.21           343,907.21                        343,907.21           48,000.00            

LESS CLASSIFIED FUND BALANCE

RESTRICTED : TABOR

COMMITTED

AIRPORT 52,542.00             52,543.00             60,192.00                          60,192.00             48,000.00            

TOTAL CLASSIFIED FUND BAL 52,542.00             52,543.00             60,192.00                          60,192.00             48,000.00            

UNASSIGNED FUND BAL 285,607.98           291,364.21           283,715.21                        283,715.21           ‐                        

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT SUMMARY

Page 13 of 19

45



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

WATER CHARGES‐BASE RATE 765,000.00           799,921.19           664,944.00                        970,584.24           694,824.00          

RATE INCREASE 155,664.00          

STANDBY TAP FEES 44,115.00             53,584.79             56,484.00                           50,341.19             50,676.00            

WATER CHARGES‐USAGE 66,497.40             ‐                         528,550.00                        ‐                         275,760.24          

SALES & SERVICES 3,650.00               8,285.75               4,500.00                             9,032.48               7,000.00              

BULK WATER 4,550.00               5,850.00               5,400.00                             6,540.00               6,025.00              

WATER TAPS ‐                         45,500.00             ‐                                       6,000.00               ‐                        

GRANT FUNDS 14,000.00             3,826.50               185,501.40           369,232.00          

PENALTIES 2,500.00               395.72                   1,000.00                             50.00                     350.00                  

RENTS 1,000.00               1,000.00               1,000.00                             ‐                         1,000.00              

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE ‐                         754.72                   ‐                        

RESERVES ‐                         335,500.00          

WATER INCOME 901,312.40           919,118.67           1,261,878.00                     1,228,049.31       1,896,031.24      

TOTAL PAYROLL 250,517.40           206,414.45           201,599.00                        183,961.62           287,254.00          

CONTRACT LABOR 20,000.00             ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

NORRIS RETIREMENT 20,160.00             20,160.00             20,160.00                           20,160.00             20,160.00            

WORK COMP 3,736.00               3,736.00               3,220.00                             3,068.18               3,315.00              

OFFICE SUPPLIES 300.00                   181.35                   320.00                                377.56                   415.00                  

OPERATING SUPPLIES 17,050.00             9,250.99               10,950.00                           22,055.07             23,415.00            

POSTAGE 4,900.00               4,243.98               3,925.00                             5,107.61               5,550.00              

LEGAL & ENGINEERING SERVICES 7,500.00               3,776.50               500.00                                40,486.75             28,000.00            

AUDIT 11,280.00             11,520.00             11,000.00                           11,000.00             12,500.00            

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 202,940.00           95,982.04             194,656.00                        133,819.33           227,750.00          

VEHICLE EXPENSE 10,000.00             7,938.23               6,219.00                             20,640.82             20,360.00            

RENTALS 2,500.00               ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

SHOP EXPENSE 4,250.00               3,616.55               3,305.00                             6,594.13               1,950.00              

TRAVEL & MEETINGS 3,500.00               31.67                     1,957.00                             1,840.08               1,200.00              

FUEL

INSURANCE & BONDS 19,715.00             20,980.22             23,508.00                           24,332.70             27,550.00            

CIRSA‐INCREASE 350.00                  

UTILITIES 25,000.00             30,925.74             27,325.00                           32,386.85             34,654.00            

TELEPHONE 4,175.00               4,467.93               4,200.00                             5,022.67               5,088.00              

PUBLISHING & ADS 710.00                   178.35                   179.00                                541.82                   200.00                  

DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 1,850.00               1,849.06               1,855.00                             26,707.50             20,658.00            

FEES & PERMITS 8,500.00               11,280.75             11,661.00                           20,339.97             12,015.00            

DATA PROCESSING 7,980.00               11,725.90             13,656.00                           16,586.41             29,630.00            

WRITEOFF‐UNCOLLECTABLE 250.00                   ‐                         200.00                                ‐                         ‐                        

CONTRACT SERVICES ‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       1,550.00               ‐                        

WATER POWER AUTHORITY LOAN 183,500.00           171,095.53           191,222.00                        173,837.91           191,225.00          

DRINKING WATER REVOLVING FUNDS 23,350.00             23,343.40             24,054.00                           23,343.40             23,344.00            

FCNB INTERIM FINANCING 25.00                     ‐                         10.00                                   ‐                         ‐                        

DEBT SERVICE ‐                         (142,892.96)          ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

CAPITAL OUTLAY 32,936.00             ‐                         150,000.00                        63,939.00             596,058.24          

PASS THRU  24,274.00             25,605.31             37,499.00                           30,687.76             ‐                        

GRANT PROJECTS 7,653.01               20,730.00            

TRANSFER IN ‐ (OUT) 10,064.00             7,000.00               ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

DEPRECIATION ‐                         325,068.24           318,698.00                        323,740.00           323,740.00          

WATER EXPENDITURES 901,312.40           865,132.24           1,261,878.00                     1,212,857.14       1,896,031.24      

‐                         53,986.43             (0.00)                                   15,192.17             (0.00)                     

WATER FUND ‐ INCOME

WATER FUND ‐ EXPENDITURES

Page 14 of 19

46



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

WATER BEGINNING RESERVE 166,873.33           166,873.33           329,644.94                        329,644.94           344,837.11          

WATER INCOME 901,312.40           919,118.67           1,261,878.00                     1,228,049.31       1,896,031.24      

WATER EXPENSE 901,312.40           865,132.24           1,261,878.00                     1,212,857.14       1,896,031.24      

NET CHANGE ‐                         53,986.43             (0.00)                                   15,192.17             (335,500.00)         

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT (335,500.00)         

WATER ENDING RESERVE 166,873.33           220,859.76           329,644.94                        344,837.11           9,337.11              

AVAILABLE RESOURCES 166,873.33           220,859.76           329,644.94                        344,837.11           9,337.11              

SOURCE (USE) OF FUNDS

LESS CLASSIFIED FUND BALANCE

RESTRICTED

WATER STORAGE

COMMITTED

DEPRICIATION (325,068.24)         (318,698.00)                       (323,740.00)        

DEBT RESERVE (3MO) 225,328.10       216,283.06       315,469.50                    303,214.29       474,007.81      

10% DEBT PAYMENT RES 328,096.00          

ASSIGNED

CAPITAL PURCHASES

CAPITAL PROJECTS

TOTAL CLASSIFIED FUND BAL 225,328.10           (108,785.18)         (3,228.50)                           307,570.29           474,007.81          

UNASSIGNED FUND BAL (58,454.77)            329,644.94           332,873.44                        37,266.82             (464,670.71)        

EST UNASSIGNED 90,131.24             86,513.22             126,187.80                        121,285.71           189,603.12          

225,328.10           216,283.06           315,469.50                        303,214.29           474,007.81          

450,656.20           432,566.12           630,939.00                        606,428.57           948,015.62          

Page 15 of 19

47



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

SEWER CHARGES ‐ RECEIVED 478,450.00           531,364.63           537,996.00                        531,000.70           536,856.00          

INCREASE 54,156.00             ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                        

SEWER TAPS 15,000.00             42,500.00             15,000.00                           5,000.00               5,000.00              

INTEREST 15,800.00             4,588.81               4,600.00                             393.77                   400.00                  

GRANT REVENUE 53,587.50             ‐                        

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 2,172.00               ‐                        

SANITATION INCOME 563,406.00           634,212.94           557,596.00                        536,394.47           542,256.00          

TOTAL PAYROLL 133,336.50           115,124.36           171,264.00                        156,068.16           149,826.00          

CONTRACT LABOR 20,000.00             ‐                         ‐                        

WORK COMP 961.00                   961.00                   947.00                                902.01                   975.00                  

OFFICE SUPPLIES 300.00                   161.89                   166.00                                21.44                     50.00                    

OPERATING SUPPLIES 15,380.00             10,045.96             8,863.00                             20,586.51             16,555.00            

POSTAGE 2,100.00               2,124.83               2,250.00                             2,681.72               2,695.00              

LEGAL & ENGINEERING SERV 19,400.00             28,575.90             ‐                                       ‐                         1,000.00              

AUDIT 3,525.00               3,600.00               4,500.00                             4,500.00               4,500.00              

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 98,585.00             126,314.74           48,862.00                           51,977.55             51,710.00            

VEHICLE EXPENSE 6,500.00               7,703.95               6,397.00                             20,264.84             19,600.00            

RENTALS 1,000.00               ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

SHOP EXPENSE 3,000.00               2,815.38               3,174.00                             6,069.91               6,055.00              

TRAVEL & MEETINGS 2,000.00               31.67                     2,307.00                             1,090.14               2,400.00              

INSURANCE & BONDS 6,545.00               7,947.55               8,816.00                             8,980.78               11,195.00            

UTILITIES 34,000.00             31,325.31             35,151.00                           33,600.82             35,951.00            

TELEPHONE 1,600.00               1,577.91               1,681.00                             1,903.92               1,973.00              

PUBLISHING & ADS 500.00                   69.08                     ‐                                       138.60                   140.00                  

DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 150.00                   137.50                   438.00                                558.90                   560.00                  

FEES & PERMITS 10,100.00             6,827.55               7,319.00                             7,580.00               7,382.00              

DATA PROCESSING 27,855.00             13,716.46             19,027.00                           16,077.59             13,650.00            

WRITEOFF‐UNCOLLECTABLE 250.00                   ‐                         150.00                                ‐                         ‐                        

CONTRACT SERVICE ‐                         300.00                  

GAGING STATION 3,900.00               3,935.00               4,089.00                             5,360.00               4,100.00              

RURAL DEVELOPMENT P&I 102,500.00           ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

ISSUANCE COSTS 75,050.00            

DEBT SERVICE ‐                         55,529.51             107,983.00                        98,750.00             102,927.00          

CAPITAL OUTLAY 55,565.00             ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                        

PASS THRU FUNDS 14,353.50             15,940.35             16,590.00                           15,930.02             ‐                        

TRANSFER IN ‐ (OUT) ‐                         7,000.00               ‐                         ‐                        

DEPRECIATION 108,906.00           107,622.00                        109,012.00           109,012.00          

SEWER EXPENDITURES 563,406.00           625,421.90           557,596.00                        562,354.91           542,256.00          

0.00                       8,791.04               (0.00)                                   (25,960.44)            0.00                      

Page 16 of 19

48



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

SEWER BEGINNING RESERVE 374,079.48           374,079.48           382,870.52                        382,870.52           356,910.08          

SEWER INCOME 563,406.00           634,212.94           557,596.00                        536,394.47           542,256.00          

SEWER EXPENSE 563,406.00           625,421.90           557,596.00                        562,354.91           542,256.00          

NET CHANGE 0.00                       8,791.04               (0.00)                                   (25,960.44)            0.00                      

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT

SEWER ENDING RESERVE 374,079.48           382,870.52           382,870.52                        356,910.08           356,910.08          

SOURCE (USE) OF FUNDS

LESS CLASSIFIED FUND BALANCE

RESTRICTED

COMMITTED

DEPRICIATION 102,000.00           102,000.00           102,000.00                        102,004.00           102,000.00          

DEBT RESERVE (3MO) 140,851.50       156,355.48       139,399.00                    140,588.73       135,564.00      

10% DEBT PAYMENT RES 101,040.00           101,040.00           101,040.00                        101,040.00           101,040.00          

ASSIGNED

CAPITAL PURCHASES

CAPITAL PROJECTS

TOTAL CLASSIFIED FUND BAL 343,891.50           359,395.48           342,439.00                        343,632.73           338,604.00          

UNASSIGNED FUND BAL 30,187.98             23,475.05             40,431.52                          13,277.35             18,306.08            

EST UNASSIGNED 56,340.60             62,542.19             55,759.60                          56,235.49             54,225.60            

140,851.50           156,355.48           139,399.00                        140,588.73           135,564.00          

281,703.00           312,710.95           278,798.00                        281,177.46           271,128.00          

Page 17 of 19

49



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

GARBAGE FEES ‐ RECEIVED 216,000.00           220,172.59           218,880.00                        251,930.98           254,340.00          

INCREASE ‐                         ‐                         38,892.00                           ‐                        

SALES & SERVICE ‐                         1,152.00               1,300.00                             8,109.92               10,000.00            

RESERVE 27,780.00             ‐                         ‐                         18,760.00            

INCOME 243,780.00           221,324.59           259,072.00                        260,040.90           283,100.00          

TOTAL PAYROLL 149,900.00           132,015.71           162,428.00                        155,574.02           174,850.00          

WORK COMP 3,561.00               3,561.00               6,057.00                             5,772.32               6,250.00              

OFFICE SUPPLIES 250.00                   157.00                   202.00                                ‐                         160.00                  

OPERATING SUPPLIES 1,275.00               1,113.04               1,145.00                             844.68                   1,205.00              

POSTAGE 1,000.00               1,029.15               876.00                                1,670.86               1,793.00              

LEGAL SERVICES 390.00                   ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

AUDIT 3,525.00               3,600.00               4,500.00                             4,500.00               4,500.00              

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 1,525.00               1,287.98               106.00                                ‐                         1,600.00              

VEHICLE EXPENSE 13,550.00             7,859.04               7,929.00                             12,245.81             16,760.00            

SHOP EXPENSE 1,400.00               607.74                   681.00                                1,378.67               1,420.00              

TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,550.00               ‐                         520.00                                546.25                   ‐                        

INSURANCE & BONDS 4,324.00               6,336.27               4,985.00                             5,820.28               6,695.00              

UTILITIES 1,900.00               3,037.21               1,576.00                             2,521.77               2,671.00              

TELEPHONE 500.00                   569.82                   543.00                                728.38                   750.00                  

PUBLISHING & ADS 150.00                   ‐                         35.00                                   138.60                   140.00                  

DATA PROCESSING 1,450.00               2,542.84               2,172.00                             3,508.32               2,740.00              

WRITEOFF‐UNCOLLECTABLE 250.00                   ‐                         270.00                                ‐                         ‐                        

LANDFILL FEES 33,000.00             33,053.50             37,868.00                           36,480.96             37,320.00            

CLEAN‐UP DAY 6,300.00               ‐                         1,800.00                             3,106.05               3,000.00              

CAPITAL OUTLAY 6,500.00               ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         3,600.00              

PASS THRU FUNDS 6,480.00               6,604.92               7,733.00                             7,557.93               ‐                        

DEPRECIATION 5,000.00               17,646.00             17,646.00                           17,646.00             17,646.00            

TRASH EXPENDITURES 243,780.00           221,021.22           259,072.00                        260,040.90           283,100.00          

(0.00)                      303.37                   0.00                                     (0.00)                      0.00                      

GARBAGE BEGINNING RESERVE 112,419.74           112,419.74           112,723.11                        112,723.11           112,723.11          

GARBAGE INCOME 243,780.00           221,324.59           259,072.00                        260,040.90           283,100.00          

GARBAGE EXPENSE 243,780.00           221,021.22           259,072.00                        260,040.90           283,100.00          

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT (18,760.00)           

NET CHANGE (0.00)                      303.37                   0.00                                     (0.00)                      (18,760.00)           

GARBAGE ENDING RESERVE 112,419.74           112,723.11           112,723.11                        112,723.11           93,963.11            

CAPITAL PURCHASES

TOTAL CLASSIFIED FUND BAL ‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         ‐                        

UNASSIGNED FUND BAL 112,419.74           112,723.11           112,723.11                        112,723.11           93,963.11            

EST UNASSIGNED 24,378.00             22,102.12             25,907.20                          26,004.09             28,310.00            

25% 60,945.00             55,255.31             64,768.00                          65,010.23             70,775.00            

50% 121,890.00           110,510.61           129,536.00                        130,020.45           141,550.00          

Page 18 of 19

50



2021

2020 2021 EST 2022

ACCOUNT  DESCRIPTION ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

2020

BUDGET

BEGINNING RESERVE 1,641,069.35       1,702,276.86       1,828,754.68                     1,828,754.68       1,828,754.68      

INCOME 3,607,198.65       3,167,118.98       4,561,832.73                     3,978,594.16       6,006,575.19      

EXPENSE 3,300,751.66       3,040,641.16       4,561,832.74                     3,659,266.21       5,958,575.20      

AUDIT ADJUSTMENT ‐                         ‐                         ‐                                       ‐                         (354,260.00)         

NET CHANGE 306,446.99           126,477.82           (0.00)                                   319,327.95           (306,260.01)         

ENDING RESERVE 1,947,516.34       1,828,754.68       1,828,754.67                     2,148,082.63       1,522,494.67      

Page 19 of 19

51



2022 2021-2015 2014 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

DESCRIPTION ALLOCATION ACTUAL 2021 REMAINING SALES TAX

PAONIA SHARE AIRPORT 67,842.00      67,842.00      (7,650.00)        (53,550.00)     (6,642.00)     

COMPUTERS 10,000.00      10,000.00      (10,000.00)       

VEHICLE 53,416.70      53,416.70      (48,000.00)       (5,416.70)        

STREETS 240,327.21     240,327.21     (77,000.00)       (38,945.00)       (49,226.38)       (45,540.62)     (14,725.00)     (14,890.21)     

STREETS (OVERLAY) 92,349.23      30,000.00  62,349.23      (30,000.00)       (20,000.00)       (11,687.50)       (661.73)        (30,000.00)     

SIGN REPLACEMENT 6,894.00       6,894.00       (1,490.46)        (212.74)        (296.80)        (4,894.00)      
STRUCTURE UPGRADES 20,000.00      20,000.00      (20,000.00)       
VEHICLE 135,000.00     90,000.00  45,000.00      (45,000.00)       (45,000.00)       (45,000.00)       
EQUIPMENT 104,079.33     104,079.33     (20,000.00)       (67,740.00)       (16,339.33)       

TOTAL 729,908.47     -    609,908.47     (237,650.00)     (53,550.00)     (6,642.00)    (177,101.70)     (143,743.67)     (46,415.09)     (15,021.80)     (49,784.21)     

(230,000.00)         

AIRPORT

POLICE

PUBLIC WORKS

CELL TOWER CARRY

ADMINISTRATION

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT ALLOCATIONS FOR 2022

52



Town of Paonia Pay Code Transaction Report - CHECK Page:     1

Pay period: 10/16/2021 - 10/29/2021 Nov 05, 2021  05:13PM

85-00

Employee Net Pay

Number Name Emp Amt

1053 Beardslee, Dominic D 1,517.18

1056 Cecil, Raymond Cole 1,010.17

1052 Edwards, Roger 965.94

1002 Ferguson, J.Corinne 2,257.55

1026 Heiniger, Kaden D 1,117.43

1022 Hinyard, Patrick 1,612.54

1001 Jones, Cynthia 1,765.50

1050 Loberg, Travis 2,056.74

1003 Mojarro-Lopez, Amanda 1,017.32

1051 Reich, Dennis 982.81

1057 Rose, Clinton A. 1,129.44

1021 Winnett, Lorin E 1,663.36

1004 Wuollet, Candice C 1,058.09

Grand Totals:

13 18,154.07

53



Town of Paonia Transmittal Register - Checks Page:     1

Pay Period Dates: 10/16/2021 to 10/29/2021 Nov 05, 2021  05:16PM

Report Criteria:

Paid transmittals included

Unpaid transmittals included

Transmittal Check Pay Per Pay GL

Number Name Number Date Code Description Account Amount

2

2 IRS Tax Deposit 711052103 10/29/2021 74-00 Federal Tax Deposit  Social Security  Pay  10-0216 1,190.55

2 IRS Tax Deposit 711052103 10/29/2021 74-00 Federal Tax Deposit  Social Security  Pay  10-0216 1,190.55

2 IRS Tax Deposit 711052103 10/29/2021 75-00 Federal Tax Deposit  Medicare  Pay Peri 10-0216 345.33

2 IRS Tax Deposit 711052103 10/29/2021 75-00 Federal Tax Deposit  Medicare  Pay Peri 10-0216 345.33

2 IRS Tax Deposit 711052103 10/29/2021 76-00 Federal Tax Deposit  Federal Withholding  10-0216 1,945.57

Total 2: 5,017.33

4

4 Aflac 0 10/29/2021 63-01 Aflac Pre-Tax  Pay Period: 10/29/2021 10-0225 136.50

4 Aflac 0 10/29/2021 63-02 Afflac After Tax  Pay Period: 10/29/2021 10-0225 24.90

Total 4: 161.40

6

6 Colorado Dept of Labor 0 10/29/2021 98-00 SUTA  State Unemployment Tax  Pay Pe 10-0218 74.20

Total 6: 74.20

9

9 Colorado Dept of Revenue 0 10/29/2021 77-00 State Withholding Tax  Pay Period: 10/29 10-0217 798.00

Total 9: 798.00

30

30 Empower Retirement 711052101 10/29/2021 51-01 Retirement Plan  Retirement Plan  Pay P 10-0220 589.40

30 Empower Retirement 711052101 10/29/2021 51-01 Retirement Plan  Retirement Plan  Pay P 10-0220 783.20

30 Empower Retirement 711052101 10/29/2021 51-02 Retirement Plan  Retirement Loan Paym 10-0220 310.47

Total 30: 1,683.07

33

33 FPPA - Fire & Police Pensi 711052102 10/29/2021 50-00 FPPA  Pay Period: 10/29/2021 10-0219 432.40

33 FPPA - Fire & Police Pensi 711052102 10/29/2021 50-00 FPPA  Pay Period: 10/29/2021 10-0219 319.60

33 FPPA - Fire & Police Pensi 711052102 10/29/2021 90-00 Death & Disability  Pay Period: 10/29/20 10-0219 112.80

Total 33: 864.80

70

70 Rocky Mountain HMO 0 10/29/2021 60-01 RMHMO - Employee Only  Pay Period: 1 10-0223 251.84

70 Rocky Mountain HMO 0 10/29/2021 60-01 RMHMO - Employee Only  Pay Period: 1 10-0223 4,155.14

70 Rocky Mountain HMO 0 10/29/2021 60-03 RMHMO - Employee + Family  Pay Perio 10-0223 133.80

70 Rocky Mountain HMO 0 10/29/2021 60-03 RMHMO - Employee + Family  Pay Perio 10-0223 3,356.42

70 Rocky Mountain HMO 0 10/29/2021 60-07 RMHMO - Employee + Spouse  Pay Peri 10-0223 93.98

70 Rocky Mountain HMO 0 10/29/2021 60-07 RMHMO - Employee + Spouse  Pay Peri 10-0223 874.38

Total 70: 8,865.56

71

71 The Harford 0 10/29/2021 65-01 Group#013307460001  Hartford Basic  P 10-0226 19.08

71 The Harford 0 10/29/2021 65-02 Group#013307460001  Hartford Supple 10-0226 25.16

71 The Harford 0 10/29/2021 65-03 Group#013307460001  Hartford Disablity   10-0226 85.06

x

x

x

54



Town of Paonia Transmittal Register - Checks Page:     2

Pay Period Dates: 10/16/2021 to 10/29/2021 Nov 05, 2021  05:16PM

Transmittal Check Pay Per Pay GL

Number Name Number Date Code Description Account Amount

Total 71: 129.30

73

73 Delta Dental of Colorado 0 10/29/2021 60-05 Dental  RMHMO - Dental  Pay Period: 10 10-0223 219.33

Total 73: 219.33

75

75 VSP Insurance CO (CT) 0 10/29/2021 60-04 RMHMO - Vision  Pay Period: 10/29/202 10-0223 81.75

Total 75: 81.75

Grand Totals: 17,894.74

Report Criteria:

Paid transmittals included

Unpaid transmittals included

5,017.33
1,683.07
   864.80
_______
7,565.20

cf 11/5/2021

55



From: Corinne Ferguson
To: "Paige Smith"
Cc: Cindy Jones
Bcc: Mary B; Dave K; Karen Budinger; Mick J; Michelle P; Tamie M; Bill Bear
Subject: RE: Comments on the draft 2022 Budget provided to date
Date: Thursday, November 4, 2021 11:13:00 AM

Paige, (Board bcc’d)
 
Thank you for sending in your thoughts and questions in advance.  This is very helpful for
staff to be able to provide the information with opportunity for review ahead of time.
 Please see below for answers.  I will include your email and my responses in the budget
session of the packet.
 
J. Corinne Ferguson
Town Administrator/Clerk

 
“The first responsibility of a leader is to define reality.  The last is to say thank you.  In between,
the leader is a servant.” Max DePree

 
Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail.
Sender and receiver should be mindful that all my incoming and outgoing emails may be subject to the
Colorado Open Records Act, § 24-72-100.1, et seq.
The Town of Paonia is an equal opportunity employer.
 
 
 
 

From: Paige Smith <paige@greenhousegarden.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, November 3, 2021 10:12 PM
To: Mary B <maryb@townofpaonia.com>; Dave K <DaveK@townofpaonia.com>; Karen Budinger
<karenb@townofpaonia.com>; Mick J <mickj@townofpaonia.com>; Michelle P
<michellep@townofpaonia.com>; Tamie M <tamiem@townofpaonia.com>; Bill Bear
<bbear@townofpaonia.com>; Corinne Ferguson <corinne@townofpaonia.com>
Subject: Comments on the draft 2022 Budget provided to date
 
Mayor Bachran, Trustees and Administrator Ferguson,
I have several comments and questions regarding the budget documents provided to date.
1. I don’t think enough time has been provided for the trustees and public to view and discuss the
budget. Of the seven Budget Workshops included in the Budget Timeline, two were not held (Sept. 7
and Sept. 21) and there is now only one more Budget Workshop currently scheduled (Nov. 9) before
the statutory deadline of Nov. 23 for budget approval. Given the valuable information we received
last night from Ty of the RCAC, I’m concerned there won’t be adequate time to address the many
issues he identified and the additional issues that were brought up at previous Workshops if
additional time isn't scheduled for public discussion. I hope this is a moot point and you’ve already
scheduled at least one more Budget Workshop. I would say yes, this is a moot point. At the October

56

mailto:corinne@townofpaonia.com
mailto:paige@greenhousegarden.com
mailto:finance@townofpaonia.com
mailto:maryb@townofpaonia.com
mailto:DaveK@townofpaonia.com
mailto:karenb@townofpaonia.com
mailto:mickj@townofpaonia.com
mailto:michellep@townofpaonia.com
mailto:tamiem@townofpaonia.com
mailto:bbear@townofpaonia.com


26th regular meeting, via email follow-up,  and at the RCAC work session on November 2nd I
informed the Board that the SGM presentation scheduled for November 9th has been postponed in
order to host a full work session prior to the regular meeting, we anticipate an additional work
session November 16th, prior to the Public Hearing on November 23rd.  

2. A draft 2022 Summary Budget consisting of two spreadsheets (pages 5 and 6 of the packet) was
provided at the Sept. 14 Workshop packet. At the next Workshop held on Sept. 28, both spreadsheets
were provided, but many of the entries in both had changed significantly. The initial presentation
were potential numbers to stimulate discussion with the Board to begin review and discussion of
wants and needs in the 2022 budget.  As staff receives comment and direction from Trustees projects
and numbers are updated accordingly.  Two additional spreadsheets were also added to the packet
for the Sept. 28 Workshop. None of these four pages of spreadsheets were discussed at the Sept. 28
Workshop or during any of the following Workshops. These tables have not been included in any
Workshop packets since the Sept. 28 Workshop. Where do these tables fit into the final budget
discussion? Individual spreadsheets are snap shots of different pieces of the overall budget intended
to direct conversation and decisions so that they can be fed into the full budget document.  The
spreadsheets were provided at direction from the Board to simplify the amount of data given, which
becomes overwhelming to review all at once.
3. The SGM report was included in the Sept. 28 Workshop packet but was not discussed during that
Workshop and has not been included in any of the recent Workshop packets. This report was relied
upon heavily for Ty’s rate analysis. When will this report be discussed and approved for acceptance
by the Trustees? I’d also like to know when the SGM report was received by the Town of Paonia?
The deadline for approval, rejection, and final reporting for the grant that paid for the SGM CIP and
Inventory is May of 2022.  As stated above in question number 1, I had initially scheduled SGM to
present at the November 9th meeting work session, but due to the necessity to hold additional budget
sessions I have postponed this.  The information is still of value for review and budgeting purposes
and the required deadline for board approval/acceptance/rejection of the study is May of 2022.  Staff
received preliminary data in March of 2021, provided the data to the finance committee and treasurer
for review and comment, and following their review received the final draft for submittal to the
Board in September 2021.
4. There were 22 pages of budget tables provided in the Oct. 12 Workshop packet describing fund
specific revenue and expenditures. Many of the values included in this set of tables do not match the
draft 2022 Summary Budget spreadsheets provided during the Sept. 28 Workshop. Which of these
are being relied upon for the budget? The original draft budget is what we rely on for the final draft
budget for adoption.  These are continuously updated with information as received by the Board and
studies such as RCAC fund presentation.  Again, summary worksheets are to stimulate discussion
only.
5.  The Oct. 26 Workshop packet included the narrative summary of the budget. On page 10 of the
packet, the narrative explains that proposed increased water rates will result in an additional
$155,644 in revenue. Page 13 of the packet includes a table with proposed staffing levels/wage
increases with a total estimated increase, if adopted, of $242,598 as compared to the salary level
budgeted in 2021. Given what we learned at last night’s RCAC workshop, any increases in water
rates will need to be applied to water system infrastructure improvements. What is the proposed
source of funding for the increase in payroll? The $242,598 includes additional support staff
necessary in 2022.  Payroll is funded through all revenue across all funds.  Impact on the water
enterprise fund for payroll for proposed staff increases is $5,590.00 annually.
6. Page 14 of the Oct 26 Workshop packet includes a table devoted to the Capital Improvement
Fund. This table has values different than the original table (found on page 13 of 22) with the same
title in the Oct 12 Budget packet. There is no narrative in the Oct 26 Workshop packet explaining
why the values have changed and this revised table was not discussed during the Oct. 26 Workshop.
Could the explanation behind this table’s revised numbers please be included in the next Budget
Workshop packet? Again, the reports are updated as we receive additional information and Board

57



direction.  Trustee Bear asked that the numbers be reconciled to match back to the capital
improvement detail sheet, additional information regarding allocation to airport, and revenue
increases we are seeing as we move further through 2021.
7. I’m attaching a copy of the Allocations table (page 39) from the Town of Paonia’s 2018 budget.
This is an easily read, comprehensive summary of the approved spending allocations for the entire
budget year. Please consider reinstating the use of a similar table for the 2022 budget. The Board
requested the layout be changed to show year over year, so we no longer used that allocation sheet
for budget discussion. The Board also has directed staff to use and direct to ClearGov, not internally
created spreadsheets – so that is what we are moving to.  ClearGov has been updated, continues to be
updated, and is available at: https://cleargov.com/colorado/delta/town/paonia
Reminder:  Data is updated with most current information prior to each work session so the
Board always has the most up-to-date information to work from.
I very much appreciate that you stay informed until your answers are received. 
Thank you!
Corinne
Thank you for your consideration of my questions and comments.
Paige Smith

58

https://cleargov.com/colorado/delta/town/paonia


 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Roll Call 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

59



 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Approval of Agenda 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

60



 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Announcements 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

61



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Oath of Office - Police Officer Lance Kramer 

Summary:   

Lance Kramer passed academy and became a POST certified officer in 2019. He has served 

both in the state of Colorado as well as the state of New Mexico. Please welcome Officer 

Kramer to the Paonia Police Force.  

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

62



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Visitors & Guests 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

63



 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

Administrator’s Report 

Town Attorney Report 

Summary:  Staff Reports and Police Blotter will be provided monthly at the first meeting of 

the Board of Trustees.  

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VW – verbal warning 

WW – written warning 

CIT - citation 

CAA – clear adult arrest 

UTL – unable to locate 

UNF - unfounded 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

: 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

64



From the desk of Corinne Ferguson 
Town Administrator/Clerk 
 

  

“A house divided against itself cannot stand.” Abraham Lincoln 

Administrators Report for November 9, 2021 

Please note: This report is not a comprehensive list of all projects but acts as a highlight for included 
packet documents, ongoing, and upcoming projects. 

Last meeting follow-up: 

1a. As requested, the Town springs information provided by Ms. Karen Fogg with staff notes has 
been included in the packet following this report.  

Updates: 

1b. The bid opening for the pedestrian bridge project took place as scheduled. Two bids were 
received and are under review prior to Board submittal.   
2b. Ty Long with RCAC is scheduled to attend a workshop with the Town 11/2/21 to present the 

cost-of-service analysis for the Water Fund. 
 
3b. Ty Long has offered to perform the Sewer fund cost of service analysis in 2022. 

 
4b. SGM will be re-scheduled later to present the Asset Inventory and GIS Mapping. 

 
5b. The Planning Commission met and made a recommendation regarding the master plan and 

dark skies ordinance. The Ordinance will be on the next regular agenda. 
 
6b. CVRF business grant applications are coming in. As a reminder, the closing date is November 

24th. 
 

7b. All water meters except consecutive systems were averaged for the November billing cycle 
due to a trans receiver fail in the remote ready system.  The repaired receiver has been delivered and 
reading wills resume for December billing cycle. 

 
8b. A draft agreement regarding the shared building depart is anticipated for 11/23/2021 meeting. 

 
9b. The introduction of the amending ordinance for 2018 building code is anticipated for the 

11/23/2021 meeting. 
 

Upcoming – No Date Confirmed, Not in Order of Importance: 

1. Electronic Billing. 
 

65



From the desk of Corinne Ferguson 
Town Administrator/Clerk 
 

2. Non-conforming ADU Update - Staff continues to walk each street in the Town to compile lists 
of locations with outbuildings, then researches permit – if applicable – to determine use.  This is 
an ongoing project, as time permits – which was the Board direction at the time of request. 

66



From: Karen Fogg
To: Corinne Ferguson
Cc: Dave K
Subject: Fwd: What is the condition of our town springs? Photos of two of our springs.
Date: Wednesday, June 16, 2021 9:02:21 AM
Attachments: ommjcghlemekjmhi.png

pbiokjakppdplhfm.png
oakeagalhkhmepca.png
gecefkcchnihimfn.png
ppjfkgfdkkmpghej.png
kncmflkeplbbnncd.png
mmfdhlimlkcdbekp.png
dkpnfhfndphnfgbl.png

Corinne, 
Please make sure this email including the photos are put into the packet for the next meeting.  

Thank you,

K Fogg

-------- Forwarded Message --------
Subject:What is the condition of our town springs? Photos of two of our springs.

Date:Tue, 15 Jun 2021 10:33:39 -0600
From:Karen Fogg <karenleefogg@gmail.com>

To:Michelle P <MichelleP@townofpaonia.com>, tamie@townofpaonia.com <tamie@townofpaonia.com>, DaveK@townofpaonia.com
<DaveK@townofpaonia.com>, mickj@townofpaonia.com <mickj@townofpaonia.com>, karenb@townofpaonia.com <karenb@townofpaonia.com>,
BBear@townofpaonia.com <BBear@townofpaonia.com>, maryb@townofpaonia.com <maryb@townofpaonia.com>

To Paonia Trustees,

 Please look at the recent photographs of both German Creek and Bell Creek Springs.  If these 
are any indicator of the condition of our other springs providing our domestic water we are, one 
might say, flushing our water down the toilet.  We have water; it is just not getting to us 
because of negligence.  Please compare the condition of these springs to the last photo of the 
town of Crawford spring.

After seeing the condition of these springs, I cannot believe that JD Hydro actually saw them or 
they would not have said they had "complete  confidence" in Travis Loberg.

We paid this engineering firm to do a complete study; they did not.  We need to know what the 
flow is at all of our spring sites for a period of two years to get reliable data.  Instead of paying 
JD Hydro for another three months of work, let's first put our money into upgrading the top four 
springs which provide us with the most water and install remote monitors, now.  Let's hire 
someone who cares enough to maintain them and capable enough to monitor them.
-------

One of the Bell Springs: the spring box is empty and this spring has probably been bypassed for 
the ones above it.
Why was this spring abandoned?  It is the most accessible  spring after you get up the 4-wheel 
drive road. Photos by Fogg and Weber

67









mailto:karenleefogg@gmail.com
mailto:corinne@townofpaonia.com
mailto:DaveK@townofpaonia.com
mailto:karenleefogg@gmail.com
mailto:MichelleP@townofpaonia.com
mailto:tamie@townofpaonia.com
mailto:DaveK@townofpaonia.com
mailto:DaveK@townofpaonia.com
mailto:mickj@townofpaonia.com
mailto:karenb@townofpaonia.com
mailto:BBear@townofpaonia.com
mailto:maryb@townofpaonia.com


---- Karen Fogg Comment:
One of the Bell Springs: the spring box is empty and this spring has probably been bypassed for the 
ones above it.
Why was this spring abandoned?  It is the most accessible  spring after you get up the 4-wheel drive 
road. Photos by Fogg and Weber

Staff Comment:
This is not an abandoned spring. Several things can occur that would cause the spring box to be empty (meaning no water in 
it). 1. Bell Creek Springs feed the 1MG system.
When we are not releasing production water in to the distribution system from the 1MG we are required to spill the water at 
the spring. This is before the spring box. 2.
Bell Creek can place a call on the water, which will cause the Town to shut down the collection of the spring water which 
occurs before the spring box. 3. The spring can
go dry, causing no water in the collection spring box.

68



Karen Fogg Comment:
Next spring upstream: completely overgrown

Staff Comment:
Agreed. This is overgrown. Spring site
rehabs are very time consuming and expensive. Staff is
happy to take on contracting out this endeavor at such a
time as the Board deems this a budgetary priority and
funding is available.

69



Karen Fogg Comment: The gate cannot be opened due to the overgrowth at this Bell Creek spring.  The spring box can no 
longer be maintained.  A meter is needed here.

Staff Comment:
The measuring device is not in the fenced area.  This is not Bell Creek Spring, this is a 
collection box for Reynolds Creek.

70



Karen Fogg Comment: The third Bell creek spring above the other two: Completely overgrown and the gate 
cannot be opened to maintain the spring box.  This spring needs a monitor.

Staff Comment:
Some Spring rehabilitation was completed in 
2020 but more is needed as noted above.

71



Recent pic of our second largest spring, German Creek (there are other 
developed spring boxes in the German Creek complex). 
Photos by Bill Brunner

Staff Comment:
Cattle and Wildlife move through the area. This is forest service land we 
are permitted to do maintenance on. Fence repair is needed.

72



Karen Fogg Comment: One of the broken pipes at German Creek

Staff Comment:
This is a Beaver Dam Ditch pipe not German Creek and the repair has already been 
made.  The pipe has also been buried underground for better protection moving 
forward.

73



The condition of the fence at this German Creek spring.  Bill Brunner took pics of this spring 6 years ago 
showing the poor condition. Nothing was done. The condition of this spring is worse now.  This spring 
needs a monitor. 

Staff Comment:
Agreed. The fence is in need of repair.

74



Karen Fogg Comment: Last by not least is a pic of the spring for the town of Crawford.  Note the solar 
panel to run the remote monitor. This is what a municipal developed spring should look like.  Photo by 
David Weber

Staff Comment:
Agreed.  Crawford has a beautifully maintained spring. This is similar to the set-up Town has 
currently at the Mays Spring site.  What is important to take into consideration when making a 
comparison to the Town of Crawford spring and water system is to note that the Town of Crawford 
has One spring that services one treatment plant that is run by two full-time employees.  The Town 
of Paonia has 30 springs that services two treatment plants that is also run by two full-time 
employees.  The expectation that the 30 Paonia springs can be maintained at the same level as the 1 
Crawford spring with the exact same staffing level is untenable. 

75

TownClerk
Highlight

TownClerk
Highlight



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

A B C D E F G H I J K N

Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 TO DATE TOTAL

2MG ONLINE ONLINE ONLINE ONLINE ONLINE ONLINE ONLINE ONLINE ONLINE ONLINE

RAW WATER REYNOLDS CREEK SPRING 2,762,470                                           2,569,620 2,738,540 2,377,130                      2,430,270                      2,158,510                                 4,953,100     5,130,630         4,036,400         1,186,500               30,343,170         

RAW WATER GERMAN CREEK SPRINGS No Data Collection No Data Collection No Data Collection No Data Collection No Data Collection 1st Month Data Collection 11,793,300   10,441,500      7,881,600         10,266,700             40,383,100         

WATER PRODUCED* 4524810* 8853790* 13562220* 5014510* 7,817,900                      16,300,600                               17,018,700   15,585,700      11,762,400      11,003,400             79,488,700         

STORAGE TANK LEVEL 29.46 29.72 30.23 29.98 28.95 30.13 30.12 FULL 30.1 30.1                         

SPILL AMOUNT 412,410                                              534,970                         537,370                         595,120                         3,077,486                      1,197,480                                 583,000        2,149,520         562,780            1,098,100               10,748,236         

BACK WASH WATER ** 163,550                                              319,870                         500,720                         153,240                         129,680                         111,990                                    330,023        299,610            318,158            0 - under repair 2,326,841            

WATER LOSS AT PLANT (BACKWASH) 105,127        SKID REPAIR SKID REPAIR SKID REPAIR

* DISCREPANCY NOTED BETWEEN FILTERTECH MASTER METER AND COMPUTER SOFTWARE.  

** BACK WASH WATER IS INCLUDED IN PRODUCED WATER BUT IS NOT INCLUDED IN MONTHLY REPORT OF SOLD WATER

*** UNACCOUNTED WATER CAN BE ATTRIBUTED TO LEAKS, LINE FLUSHING, HYDRANT USE, UN-METERED LOCATION USE, ETC.

NOTE: DATA IS APPROXIMATION ONLY AND DOES NOT ACCOUNT FOR USAGE ESTIMATION MONTHS, FIRE HYDRANT AND 

WATERLINE FLUSHES, NON-METERED ACCOUNTS OR SPILL AT SPRINGS

DATA CHANGE TO MATCH METER READ DATES SO SEPT 2021 IS AUG 15TH TO SEPT 15TH DATA

SIX RAW WATER SPRINGS CONVERGE AND FEED THE 2MG SYSTEM AT TWO POINTS, KNOWN AS THE GERMAN CREEK LINE (GC) 

AND THE REYNOLDS CREEK LINE (RC). 

Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 44,470                    TO DATE TOTAL

1MG OFFLINE OFFLINE OFFLINE OFFLINE OFFLINE OFFLINE OFFLINE ONLINE ONLINE ONLINE

RAW WATER MAYS SPRING 1,577,000         3,530,000         5,107,000            

RAW WATER ________SPRING FEEDING TO 2MG Through RC n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a -                       

WATER PRODUCED* 908,000            1,450,000         2,160,000               4,518,000            

STORAGE TANK LEVEL 11.2 10.2 10.1                         

SPILL AMOUNT 583,000            2,080,000         3,499,200               6,162,200            

BOTH PLANTS AS OF AUGUST 2021

TOTAL WATER PRODUCED 16,493,700      13,212,400      13,163,400             

WATER SOLD 5,503,144                                           6,912,361                      4,422,485                      7,489,338                      8,627,540                      10,914,410                               10,554,450   11,627,494      9,618,504         9,400,410               85,070,136         

NO BILL ACCOUNTS WATER USED 289,510        217,600            234,930            234,930                  976,970               

WATER + NO BILL 10,843,960   11,845,094      9,853,434         9,635,340               42,177,828         

UNACCOUNTED *** 6,174,740     4,866,206         3,593,896         3,762,990               18,397,832         

UNACCOUNTED PERCENTAGE 36% 31% 31% 34%

TOTAL NUMBER OF ACTIVE TAPS 1,610 1,610 1,610 1,610 1,610 1,610 1,610 1610 1610 1610

76



 

 

 P.O. Box 3310, 130 N. Park Avenue       Montrose, Colorado 81402               T: 970-249-7000               F: 970-249-8440 

 

DEVOR & PLUMHOFF, LLC                                                                         Bo James Nerlin   
Attorneys and Counselors at Law                        bo@coloradowestlaw.com 

         

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
To: Board of Trustees, Town of Paonia 
From:  Bo James Nerlin, Esq.  
Re:  Town Attorney Report 
Date:  11/5/2021 
CC: Ms. Corinne Ferguson  
 
 
 The purpose of this memorandum is to outline several projects that I have been working 
on as Town Attorney.  This is to serve as a brief overview and not a comprehensive list.  
 
 Opioid Settlement and Recovery  
 
 Enclosed in the packet is a Resolution prepared by the Town Administrator approving 
Colorado’s Opioid Settlement and Recovery Documents.  On behalf of the Town, I have 
reviewed the document which constitute the Town’s approval for the Settlement:  
 

(1) The Memorandum of Understanding  
(2) The Subdivision Settlement Participation Form - Johnson & Johnson;  
(3) The Subdivision Settlement Participation Form - AmerisourceBergen, 

Cardinal Health, and McKesson; and 
(4) The Colorado Subdivision Escrow Agreement  

 
Citizen’s Initiative 

 
I have reviewed the most recent Citizen’s initiative submitted by Mr. Brunner and 

conferred with the Town Administrator/ Town Clerk in its approval to form.   
 
 Fence Memo 
 
 I have reviewed the Town Administrator’s Fence Memo enclosed in the Board Packet, 
and I have conferred with the Town Administrator regarding the same.  
  
 IGA With the Town of Hotchkiss 
 
 I have provided a copy of the updated IGA between the Town’s of Paonia and Hotchkiss 
regarding the provision of law enforcement officers by Hotchkiss to Paonia on an interim basis 
to the Town Administrator. 
 
 

77



 Electronic Participation in Meetings – Covid Concerns   
 
 I’ve been asked to examine the Town’s authority to reschedule in person meetings to an 
electronic format.  Absent an electronic participation policy, it is my position that meetings of 
the Board of Trustees should be in person unless there is an emergency declaration from the 
Mayor, ratified by the Board of Trustees.   It is my opinion that the Town should consider 
adopting an electronic participation policy which would allow for Trustees and staff members to 
attend meetings remotely.  
 
 
 
  

78



 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Disbursements 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

79



DESCRIPTION DATES AMOUNT
CURRENT FSBC OPS BALANCE 131,566.82                
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE  10/23/21‐11/05/21 (56,924.77) 
LOAN PAYMENT
NORRIS RETIREMENT PAYMENT SCHEDULED 11/26/2021 (1,680.00)
CHASE CREDIT CARD  09/24/21 ‐ 10/23/21 (1,664.85)
AMAZON 10/1/21 ‐ 10/31/21 (342.49) 
TRANSFER TO SUMMIT
TRANSFER TO PAYROLL 11/5/2021 (18,154.07)  1
PAYROLL TAXES 11/5/2021 (7,565.20)
BALANCE AFTER PAYMENT 45,235.44

DESCRIPTION DATES AMOUNT
CURRENT FSBC SUMMIT BALANCE 1,292,187.06             
TRANSFER FROM OPS ‐
TRANSFER FROM INT. GRANTS ‐
CURRENT FSBC PAYROLL BALANCE 25.00 

TRANSFER FROM OPS 18,154.07 1
PAYROLL (DIRECT DEPOSIT) 11/5/2021 (18,154.07)  1
BALANCE AFTER PAYMENT 1,310,366.13             

DESCRIPTION DATES AMOUNT
CURRENT INTERNAL GRANT BALANCE 25.00 

BALANCE AFTER PAYMENT 25.00 

FOR: 11/09/2021
UBB OPS DISBURSEMENT SUMMARY 

UBB SUMMIT/PAYROLL DISBURSEMENT SUMMARY 

UBB INTERNAL GRANT DISBURSEMENT SUMMARY 

cf 11/5/21

80



FSBC COLOTRUST TOTAL DESCRIPTION
As of: 11/05/2021
GENERAL 532,370.89         COMBINED FUNDS
SEWER RESTRICTED 530,460.23         PROPERTY SALE‐RESTRICTED
DEBT RESERVE 106,885.64         AMKO BOND REQUIRED RESERVE
BRIDGE RESERVE 588,679.78         BRIDGE RESERVE
CONS.TRUST 10,404.36            RESTRICTED TO PARK USE ONLY
GRANT PASS THRU 25.00 PLACE HOLDER‐COMBINED FUNDS
INT GRANT  25.00 MOVING TO CD‐AMKO BOND RESERVE
OPS 148,337.86         COMBINED FUNDS
PARK CONTRIBUTIONS 12,563.11            SPECIFIC PARK PROJECTS
PAYROLL 25.00 PLACE HOLDER‐COMBINED FUNDS
SPACE‐TO‐CREATE 13,181.70            SPACE TO CREATE ONLY
SUMMIT 1,292,187.06      COMBINED FUNDS
WWTP 58,458.30            OLD SEWER REHAB ONLY
CD#2‐402 203,060.69         COMBINED FUNDS‐LOC COLLATERAL
CD#3‐2578 260,073.18         COMBINED FUNDS

1,998,341.26      1,758,396.54      3,756,737.80     

COMBINED  RESTRICTED TOTAL DESCRIPTION

As of: 11/05/2021
GENERAL 532,370.89        
SEWER RESTRICTED 530,460.23         RESTRICED TO SEWER CAPITAL PROJECT
DEBT RESERVE 106,885.64         RESTRICTED LOAN REQUIRMENT
BRIDGE RESERVE 588,679.78         RESTRICTED TO BRIDGE REPAIRS 
CONS.TRUST 10,404.36            RESTRICTED TO PARK CAPTIAL PROJECT

GRANT PASS THRU 25.00

INT GRANT  25.00 RESTRICED LOAN REQUIREMENT

OPS 148,337.86        

PARK CONTRIBUTIONS 12,563.11            SPECIFIC PARK PROJECTS AS DONATED

PAYROLL 25.00

SPACE‐TO‐CREATE 13,181.70            SPACE TO CREATE ONLY

SUMMIT 1,292,187.06     

WWTP 58,458.30            OLD SEWER REHAB ONLY

CD#2‐402 203,060.69        

CD#3‐2578 260,073.18        

2,436,079.68      1,320,658.12      3,756,737.80     

BANK BALANCES

CASH POSITION

cf 11/5/21

81



Town of Paonia Cash Requirements Report - Paonia Page:     1

Due date(s): All-All Nov 05, 2021  04:43PM

Check Issue Date: 11/5/2021

Due Vendor Vendor Invoice Invoice Discount Partial Net Due Pay Partial Part Pmt

Date Number Name Number Amount Amount Payments Amount Pmt Amt Disc Amt

11/10/2021 661 All Points Transit I 4171 3,100.00 .00 .00 3,100.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 1185 AQUAFIX INC 38496 2,572.04 .00 .00 2,572.04 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 654 Badger Meter, Inc. 1467221 2,200.00 .00 .00 2,200.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 654 Badger Meter, Inc. 80083674 260.00 .00 .00 260.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 473 Better Containers  236581 188.73 .00 .00 188.73 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 1141 BO JAMES NERLI 35475 4,166.66 .00 .00 4,166.66 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 1141 BO JAMES NERLI 35477-35487 286.00 .00 .00 286.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 1126 Brown Hill Enginee 523 1,710.00 .00 .00 1,710.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 21 Caselle, Inc 113066 1,114.00 .00 .00 1,114.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 309 Colorado State For 90495 800.00 .00 .00 800.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 1183 Column Software  03BB435C-0 42.39 .00 .00 42.39 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 39 Delta County Inde 1021519674 56.44 .00 .00 56.44 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 56 Delta County Land 10312021 3,261.75 .00 .00 3,261.75 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 43 Delta Montrose Ele 11-2021-W 2,238.03 .00 .00 2,238.03 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 46 Dependable Lumb 2110-199033 738.91 .00 .00 738.91 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 48 Don's Market 01-1343504 5.85 .00 .00 5.85 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 986 Elevate Fiber 10_21 803.34 .00 .00 803.34 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 822 Erica Ruth Hill CO10486 03 118.01 .00 .00 118.01 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 822 Erica Ruth Hill CO10486 11 1,601.83 .00 .00 1,601.83 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 62 Feather Petroleum  10312021 1,225.13 .00 .00 1,225.13 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 888 Filter Tech System 9040 1,187.46 .00 .00 1,187.46 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 823 Gail Jean James C010486 030 118.01 .00 .00 118.01 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 823 Gail Jean James C010486 112 1,601.83 .00 .00 1,601.83 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 80 Hellman Motor Co 638010 287.36 .00 .00 287.36 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 82 High Country Shop 91515 110.20 .00 .00 110.20 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 82 High Country Shop 91516 60.80 .00 .00 60.80 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 82 High Country Shop 91768 110.20 .00 .00 110.20 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 82 High Country Shop 91769 60.80 .00 .00 60.80 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 482 Larry D Gillenwate 423086 30.13 .00 .00 30.13 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 470 Leon, Susan 11/1/2021-11/ 725.00 .00 .00 725.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 851 North Fork Mercha 5380 19.00 .00 .00 19.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 141 North Fork Service  520354-5203 621.84 .00 .00 621.84 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 122 Paonia Auto Parts 381850-3828 1,347.25 .00 .00 1,347.25 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 125 Paonia Farm & Ho 103533,1035 37.56 .00 .00 37.56 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 1119 Peak Alarm Co., In 1155437 225.00 .00 .00 225.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 499 Phonz + 12289 1,573.73 .00 .00 1,573.73 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 520 PR Diamond Prod 0060210-IN 555.00 .00 .00 555.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 1224 Rhinehart Oil Co.,L CP-059528-2 729.09 .00 .00 729.09 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 737 Ricoh USA Inc 5063092777 193.57 .00 .00 193.57 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 656 Schmueser Gordo 2013-471.01 6,889.50 .00 .00 6,889.50 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 656 Schmueser Gordo 2013-471.01 4,698.75 .00 .00 4,698.75 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 833 U.S. Geological Su 90940693 4,089.00 .00 .00 4,089.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 161 UNCC 221101097 44.88 .00 .00 44.88 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 162 United Companies  1431458 185.70 .00 .00 185.70 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 162 United Companies  1432229 381.65 .00 .00 381.65 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 165 Valley Machine LL 5848 145.00 .00 .00 145.00 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 181 Vandanacker, Marc  CO10486 03 118.01 .00 .00 118.01 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 181 Vandanacker, Marc  CO10486 11 1,601.83 .00 .00 1,601.83 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 491 Winwater Corp 061291-01 489.12 .00 .00 489.12 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 491 Winwater Corp 061365-01 1,925.63 .00 .00 1,925.63 ____ ________ ________

11/10/2021 491 Winwater Corp 061386-01 272.76 .00 .00 272.76 ____ ________ ________

Grand Totals: 51 56,924.77 .00 .00 56,924.77

ANNUAL SHARE

SEWER TREATMENT

NEW METER READER

SERVICE AGREEMENT 11/2021-12/2021

HALLOWEEN BAGS

ATTORNEY

ATTORNEY-RIVERBANK

WATER SCADA SYSTEM

MONTHLY SOFTWARE FEE

APPLE VALLEY TREE INVENTORY

LEGAL NOTICES

CLASSIFIED ADS

LANDFILL FEES

UTILITIES

VARIOUS

PD BATTERIES

TELEPHONE & INTERNET

ANNUAL SHARE

ANNUAL SHARE

FUEL

2MG PLANT REPAIR

ANNUAL SHARE

ANNUAL SHARE

VEHICLE REPAIR

CLASSIFIED AD

CVRF GRANT

CLASSIFIED AD

CVRF GRANT

CAR WASH

CLEANING CONTRACT

CVRF GRANT

FUEL

VARIOUS

VARIOUS

ALARM REPAIRS

MONTHLY IT FEES

TOOL (LASER WELDED CORE BIT)

FUEL

COPIER COPIES

LEAD & COPPER COMPLIANCE

2MG TANK RE-COATING

GAGING STATION

LOCATES

STREET REPAIR

WATER LEAK

F350 REPAIR

ANNUAL SHARE

ANNUAL SHARE

WATER PARTS

WATER LEAK

WATER PLANT REPAIR

cf

cf

82



Town of Paonia Cash Requirements Report - Paonia Page:     2

Due date(s): All-All Nov 05, 2021  04:43PM

Check Issue Date: 11/5/2021

Cash Requirements Summary

Date Invoice Amount Discount Amount Partial Payments Net Due Amount Net Cumulative Amount

11/10/2021 56,924.77 .00 .00 56,924.77 56,924.77

Grand Totals:

56,924.77 .00 .00 56,924.77

83



84



85



86



87



 Invoice # 19PJ-FGJF-XG91 | November 01, 2021
Invoice

For customer support, visit www.amazon.com/contact-us.

Page 1  of 5

 Billing period

 Account #

 Payment terms

Registered business name

City of Paonia

Bill to

Town of Paonia

Corinne Ferguson

214 Grand Avenue

PO Box 460

PAONIA, CO 81428

Group Name

City of Paonia

Net 45

10/1/21 to 10/31/21Invoice summary

Item subtotal before tax $ 372.89

Shipping & handling $ 0.00

Promos & discounts $ 0.00

Total before tax $ 372.89

Tax $ 0.00

Amount due $ 372.89 USD

Pay by

Electronic funds transfer (EFT/ACH/Wire)

Account name Amazon Capital Services, Inc.

Bank name Wells Fargo Bank

Bank routing # (ABA) 121000248

Bank account # (DDA) 41630410406736077 

SWIFT code (wire transfer) WFBIUS6S

Include Amazon invoice number(s) in the descriptive field of your electronic

funds transfer payment, or 

Email ar-businessinvoicing@amazon.com to submit your remittance detail.

Check

Amazon Capital Services

PO Box 035184

Seattle, WA 98124-5184

Due 45 days from receipt of invoice

Invoice details

#
Ship
date PO # Description Qty

Unit
price

Item
subtotal

before tax Tax

1 10/22/21 460 Dust-Off Disposable Compressed Gas Duster kcFgcZ, 4Pack

(Can 10oz.)

  ASIN:
B075X2QLFW

Sold by: Ki Me Co LLC

 Order # 113-0624367-1050641

Order date: October 21, 2021

1 $19.99 $19.99 0.000%

88



Invoice # 19PJ-FGJF-XG91
Invoice

Page 2  of 5

#
Ship
date PO # Description Qty

Unit
price

Item
subtotal

before tax Tax

2 10/22/21 460 ComplyRight Confidential Employee Records Folder,

Expanded, Pack of 25

  ASIN:
B01FULD1UO

Sold by: Taylor Corporation

 Order # 113-1325444-5597015

Order date: October 21, 2021

1 $94.99 $94.99 0.000%

3 10/24/21 460 PartySticks Glow Sticks Party Supplies 100pk - 8 Inch Glow in

the Dark Light Up Sticks Party Favors, Glow Party Decorations,

Neon Party Glow Necklaces

 ASIN:
B00N1QPNMA

 Sold by: Ace Business Services LLC

 Order # 111-4890903-0008226

Order date: October 20, 2021

1 $11.99 $11.99 0.000%

4 10/24/21 460 PartySticks Glow Sticks Party Supplies 300pk - 8 Inch Glow in

The Dark Light Up Sticks Party Favors, Glow Party

Decorations, Neon Party Glow Necklaces

 ASIN:
B00N1QVCMU

 Sold by: Ace Business Services LLC

 Order # 111-4890903-0008226

Order date: October 20, 2021

1 $20.95 $20.95 0.000%

5 10/24/21 460 Jumbl Blue Disposable Face Masks | Protective 3-Ply

Breathable Comfortable Nose/Mouth Coverings for Home &

Office | Elastic Ear Loop 3-Layer Safety Sh

  ASIN:
B08D6V35W5

Sold by: DBROTH Inc

 Order # 111-4890903-0008226

Order date: October 20, 2021

1 $25.00 $25.00 0.000%

89



Invoice # 19PJ-FGJF-XG91
Invoice

Page 3  of 5

#
Ship
date PO # Description Qty

Unit
price

Item
subtotal

before tax Tax

6 10/24/21 460 JOYIN 120 Pieces Halloween Glow in The Dark Bugs and Toys

Glow Bugs, Plastic Bugs, Glow Bug Rings , Glow Bouncy Balls

and Witch Fingers for Halloween

  ASIN: B07579V2PT Sold by: Mccormick trading

 Order # 111-4890903-0008226

Order date: October 20, 2021

3 $15.99 $47.97 0.000%

7 10/24/21 460 Samsill Plastic Sheet Protectors 8.5 x 11, Page Protectors for 3

Ring Binders, Clear Standard Weight, Top Load Inserts, Box of

200 Sheets, Reinforced

  ASIN: B089S9CXTS Sold by: ELG Corp

 Order # 113-5766687-5881014

Order date: October 21, 2021

1 $9.92 $9.92 0.000%

8 10/24/21 460 Post-it Note Dispenser, 3x3 in, Vertical, Black with Grey

(ABS-330-B)

 ASIN:
B07K8YVDZZ

 Sold by: Amazon.com Services LLC

 Order # 113-5766687-5881014

Order date: October 21, 2021

1 $10.49 $10.49 0.000%

9 10/28/21 Max Heavy-Duty Black Staple Remover (RZ-3F) 4" x 1.1" x

5.5"

 ASIN: B0006HX56I
 Sold by: Amazon.com Services LLC

 Order # 111-8751041-5745807

Order date: October 26, 2021

1 $13.49 $13.49 0.000%

10 10/28/21 64 Pcs Small Binder Clips 1 Inch Width for Office

  ASIN: B07V85T4GB Sold by: Fuya Inc - Lijuan Wu

 Order # 111-8751041-5745807

Order date: October 26, 2021

1 $6.92 $6.92 0.000%

90



Invoice # 19PJ-FGJF-XG91
Invoice

Page 4  of 5

Total before tax $372.89

Tax $0.00

Amount due $372.89

#
Ship
date PO # Description Qty

Unit
price

Item
subtotal

before tax Tax

11 10/29/21 Original HP 951XL Cyan High-yield Ink Cartridge | Works with

HP OfficeJet 8600, HP OfficeJet Pro 251dw, 276dw, 8100,

8610, 8620, 8630 Series | Eligibl

 ASIN:
B005BZNERK

 Sold by: Amazon.com Services LLC

 Order # 111-8544493-8016201

Order date: October 26, 2021

1 $34.89 $34.89 0.000%

12 10/29/21 Verbatim CD-R 700MB 52X with Branded Surface - 100pk

Spindle, Silver

 ASIN: B00029U1DU
 Sold by: Amazon.com Services LLC

 Order # 111-8544493-8016201

Order date: October 26, 2021

1 $19.41 $19.41 0.000%

13 10/29/21 Amazon Basics Hanging Folders, Legal Size, Assorted (Blue,

Red, Yellow), 25-Pack

 ASIN: B07TJK1LJZ
 Sold by: Amazon.com Services LLC

 Order # 111-8544493-8016201

Order date: October 26, 2021

1 $11.99 $11.99 0.000%

14 10/29/21 HP 950XL | Ink Cartridge | Black | Works with HP OfficeJet Pro

251dw, 276dw, 8100, 8600 Series | CN045AN

 ASIN:
B005BZNEMK

 Sold by: Amazon.com Services LLC

 Order # 111-8544493-8016201

Order date: October 26, 2021

1 $44.89 $44.89 0.000%

91



Invoice # 19PJ-FGJF-XG91
Invoice

Page 5  of 5

FAQs

 How is tax calculated?
Visit https://www.amazon.com/gp/help/customer/display.html/ref=hp_leftv4_sib?ie=UTF8&nodeId=202036190

How are digital products and services taxed?

Visit https://www.amazon.com/gp/help/customer/display.html/ref=hp_leftv4_sib?ie=UTF8&nodeId=202074670

92



 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Regular Minutes: 

10/26/2021 

Special Minutes: 

10/28/2021 

Summary:    

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

93



 TOWN OF PAONIA

 

____________________________________________________________________________________  
October 26, 2021, Work Session 5:00pm & Regular Meeting 6:30 pm 

Page 1 of 4  

  

Regular Town Board Meeting, October 26, 2021 

Work Session, October 26, 2021  

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILMEMBERS  

Mayor Bachran 

Trustee Knutson 

Trustee Budinger  

Trustee Pattison 

Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Meck 

Trustee Bear 

 

October 26, 2021,                                   Work Session Minutes                                         5:00 pm                    

 

Mayor Mary Bachran called the Work Session Meeting of the Town of Paonia to order at 5:00 pm. A 

link to the formal video of the Special Meeting -https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=F5gZNQ5eZMY  

 

ROLL CALL:   

  

Mayor Bachran asked Deputy Clerk Amanda Mojarro to call the roll.  

  

Deputy Clerk Amanda Mojarro called the roll and those present were Mayor Bachran, Trustee 

Bear, Trustee Pattison, Trustee Johnson, Trustee Meck, Trustee Budinger. Trustee Knutson was 

absent. 

 

Budget Workshop:   

The Board discussed multiple items on the transmittal letter including public safety, questions were 

asked and answered regarding the purchase of new computers for the police department, their 

computers are old and need to be replaced. Discussed capital improvements, tank lining and cost 

associated with it.  

 A request was made to clarify what historical budget on page 6 under known assumptions 

was regarding.  

 Asked questions regarding where the timeline for the building department was at with 

becoming a shared department with other communities.  

 Discussed the 3% impact fee, some board members commented on changing it while others 

preferred to wait and revisit in a 1 year.  

 Discussed changing the trash system from a manual to a tote system.  

 Discussed payroll, allocations for 2022, and capital improvement.  

 Direction by the board was given to staff to have a list of what would be spent in the 

administrative area. The Clerk/Administrator Ferguson suggested to modify what would be 

spent in the administrative capital improvement area by 1%.  

 The 2021 budget will continue to be discussed.   

 

ADJOURNMENT:   

 The Work Session Meeting was adjourned at 6:14 pm.  

 

October 26, 2021,                                   Regular Meeting Minutes                                         6:30 pm                    

 

Mayor Mary Bachran called the Regular Meeting of the Town of Paonia to order at 6:30 pm.  

 

ROLL CALL:   

  

94

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=F5gZNQ5eZMY


 TOWN OF PAONIA

 

____________________________________________________________________________________  
October 26, 2021, Work Session 5:00pm & Regular Meeting 6:30 pm 

Page 2 of 4  

  

Mayor Bachran asked Deputy Clerk Amanda Mojarro to call the roll.  

  

Deputy Clerk Mojarro called the roll and those present were Mayor Bachran, Trustee Bear, Trustee 

Pattison, Trustee Johnson, and Trustee Meck, Trustee Budinger and Trustee Knutson was absent. 

 

Approval of the Agenda:   

Trustee Bear moved to approve the agenda as presented, seconded by Trustee Budinger Motion

 unanimously passed.  

Trustee Pattison moved to amend the motion to continue the budget session with time permitting, 

seconded by Trustee Meck. Motion unanimously passed.  

 

Announcements:  

None. 

 

Visitors and Guest:   

DOLA Northwest Reginal Manager – Dana Hlavac presented himself to the Board as the Northwestern 

Regional Manager. 

 Thomas Markle discussed his request to have all documents searchable in a PDF format and his 

concerns on the water fund from the previous budget meeting.  

 Suzanne Watson spoke her concerns with advertisement of paid rates and how job advertisements 

were being handled.  

 Marion Hillary spoke her concerns with a disconnect notice she received. Betsy Johnson gave thanks 

to town administration for helping out with the new trail.  

 Mary Difranco spoke her concern regarding the fence that is encroaching on town property located 

on first street.  

 Pamela Jackson requested to have the letter that was written regarding the fence issue on first street 

to be included in the next meeting packet.  

 Page Smith would like the board to look at how the allocation table was in the 2019 budget.  

 

 

Staff Reports:  

Town Administrator Corinne Ferguson report was included and reported out on the recent scheduled 

maintenance for a main line on Lamborn Mesa.  

Town Attorney Nerlin no report was provided.  

Public Work & Utilities Director Travis Loberg was absent the Town Administrator Ferguson 

answered questions.  

Finance Director Cindy Jones report was included. Town Administrator Ferguson answered 

questions.  

 

Disbursements: Trustee Budinger moved to approve disbursements as presented, seconded by Trustee 

Bear. Motion unanimously passed.  

   

Consent Agenda 

Regular Minutes – 10/12/21  

Special Minutes – 07/12/2021 

Special Minutes – 08/03/2021 

 

Trustee Pattison abstained from voting.  

 

Trustee Budinger moved to approve the consent agenda as presented, seconded by Trustee Bear. Motion 

unanimously passed.  

 

95



 TOWN OF PAONIA

 

____________________________________________________________________________________  
October 26, 2021, Work Session 5:00pm & Regular Meeting 6:30 pm 

Page 3 of 4  

  

Unfinished Business 

None 

 

New Business 

COVID-19 County Update: Discussion ensued by Mayor Bachran regarding the current cases and 

situation going on with COVID-19 in Delta County and discussed to begin using masks during 

meetings.  

 

Trustee Budinger moved to approve the mask mandate during Board meetings, seconded by Trustee 

Pattison. Motion unanimously passed.  

 

Alley Access Property Deed to Town: Trustee Bear moved to have the alley access property deed issue 

on the next planning commission meeting, seconded by Trustee Budinger. Motion unanimously passed.  

 

Boettcher Grant – Project Approval: Trustee Budinger moved to approve the Boettcher, seconded by 

Trustee Meck. Motion unanimously passed.  

 

Paonia Bulk fill Station Analysis: Town Clerk/Administrator Ferguson provided an analysis of the 

bulk water fill station. Trustee Pattison suggested the advisory water committee preview the document. 

No board action was taken. 

 

Enterprise Fund – Water Preliminary Priority List: Town Clerk/Administrator Ferguson provided a 

priority list. Trustee Meck stated that she would share the list with the advisory water committee. 

Trustee Pattison stated that she would like that the Facebook comment form Karen Fogg regarding the 

rehabilitation of the springs and the response from staff that was provided by email to be included in the 

next packet for informational purposes. Public member Suzanne Watson asked if the priority list 

provided was a part of the 2021 budget process. No board action was taken. 

 

Introduction – Town Participation in the National Opioid Settlement in Support of The State of 

Colorado: This item was included as an introduction and information only. Trustee Meck suggested to 

assign this to an ad-hawk committee. Town Clerk/Administrator Ferguson stated this will be put back on 

the next agenda along with information and data from the Town attorney. No board action was taken.  

 

Discussion Regarding Additional Advisory Water Committee Board Members: Trustee Pattison 

moved to bring the water advisory committee to the board before the end of the year with 

recommendations from the committee with a copy of the ordinance to revisit, seconded by Trustee Bear. 

Motion unanimously passed.  

 

Mayor’s Report 

Mayor called a five (5) minute recess. 

Returned to the meeting at 9:02pm 

Mayor’s report was included.  

 

Continued Budget Discussion: The board continued the discussion from the previous work session 

regarding the 2021 budget process. Trustee Meck made a comment regarding the contract for 

engineering services, Trustee Pattison suggested that on page 15-line-item vehicles should have more 

information on the use and justification for purchasing additional vehicles and suggested adding more 

detail on the line item regarding equipment. Trustee Meck made a comment that marijuana money be 

allocated to trees.  

 

 

ADJOURNMENT:   

 The Regular Council Meeting was adjourned at 9:27 pm.  

96



 TOWN OF PAONIA

 

____________________________________________________________________________________  
October 26, 2021, Work Session 5:00pm & Regular Meeting 6:30 pm 

Page 4 of 4  

  

  

  

  

  

 ______________________________      ______________________________ 

Amanda Mojarro, Deputy Clerk                             Mary Bachran, Mayor  

 

  

97



 TOWN OF PAONIA

 

____________________________________________________________________________________  
November 03, 2021, Work Session 5:00pm  

Page 1 of 1  

  

Regular Town Board Work Session, November 02, 2021  
MAYOR AND TOWN COUNCIL MEMBERS  

Mayor Bachran 

Trustee Knutson 

Trustee Budinger  

Trustee Pattison 

Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Meck 

Trustee Bear 

 

November 02, 2021,                                   Work Session Minutes                                         5:00 pm                    

 

Mayor Mary Bachran called the Work Session Meeting of the Town of Paonia to order at 5:00 pm. A 

link to the formal video of the Special Meeting -https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=P3l_GdLE_Cc  

 

ROLL CALL:   

  

Mayor Bachran asked Deputy Clerk Amanda Mojarro to call the roll.  

  

Deputy Clerk Amanda Mojarro called the roll and those present were Mayor Bachran, Trustee 

Pattison, Trustee Knutson, Trustee Johnson, Trustee Meck, Trustee Budinger. Trustee Bear was 

absent. 

 

Unfinished Business:   

Ty Long – RCAC Cost of Service Analysis presented a slide show on session objectives, 

understanding how to calculate the base charge and volumetric charges to cover full cost of providing 

water, water system objective, full cost recovery/revenue stability, and understanding water revenues. 

Ty also presented an excel data rate spreadsheet showing the cost change if the rates were to go up or 

stay the same. Ty discussed having emergency reserves, cost of the infrastructure, cost of replacing 

lines, and capital improvement plan funding. Ty stated that the town’s rates do need to be raised because 

the capital improvement is heavily underfunded. Ty will be providing a draft report to the board for 

review by November 9th. The Board gave direction to Ty to include three (3) scenarios 1. Show an 

incremental increase on rates, 2. Have affordable rates and show how this would impact the reserves, 3. 

Board member Trustee Pattison would like to drop project’s that are more than 30 years out to be 

replaced and keeping those that are to be replaced with in the next 30 years. 

  

ADJOURNMENT:   

 The Work Session Meeting was adjourned 7:19 pm.  

  

  

  

 ______________________________      ______________________________ 

Amanda Mojarro, Deputy Clerk                             Mary Bachran, Mayor  

 

  

98

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=P3l_GdLE_Cc


 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Public Hearing - DMT Paonia, LLC Regulated Marijuana License 

Summary:   

Public Hearing for DMT Paonia, located at 232 Grand Avenue. Retail & Medical marijuana 

store. 

 

Notes: 

 

Ordinance 2021-01 

6-4-80 – all requirements met/sufficient 

6-4-90 – requirements met/sufficient – C. Surety Bond Receipt Pending 

6-4-100 – all requirements met/sufficient 

 

All fees have been paid. 

Public notice posting and advertisement complete. 

 

No issues or concerns noted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Public Hearing - Paonia Purple, Inc. Regulated Marijuana License 

Summary:   

Public Hearing for Paonia Purple, Inc., located at 201 Grand Avenue. Retail marijuana store. 

 

Notes: 

 

Ordinance 2021-01 

6-4-80 – all requirements met/sufficient 

6-4-90 – requirements met/sufficient – C. Surety Bond Receipt Pending 

6-4-100 – all requirements met/sufficient 

 

All fees have been paid. 

Public notice posting and advertisement complete. 

 

No issues or concerns noted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Public Hearing – Valley High, LLC Regulated Marijuana License 

Summary:   

Public Hearing for Valley High, LLC located at 512 2nd Street. Retail marijuana store. 

 

Notes: 

 

Ordinance 2021-01 

6-4-80 – all requirements met/sufficient 

6-4-90 – requirements met/sufficient – C. Surety Bond Receipt Pending 

6-4-100 – all requirements met/sufficient 

 

All fees have been paid. 

Public notice posting and advertisement complete. 

 

No issues or concerns noted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Executive Session  

For discussion of a personnel matter under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(f) 

and not involving: any specific employees who have requested discussion 

of the matter in open session; any member of this body or any elected 

official; the appointment of any person to fill an office of this body or of 

an elected official; or personnel policies that do not require the discussion 

of matters personal to particular employees; specific to the Town 

Administrator Corinne Ferguson Administrator Contract. 

Summary:   

At direction from the Board at the September 28, 2021 meeting. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

314



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Town Administrator Contract Review 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

315



 

2021 Employment Agreement - Page 1 of 7 

 EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

This Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”) dated this ___ day of January 2021, is by 

and between the Town of Paonia, a Colorado statutory municipality, located in the County of 

Delta, State of Colorado ("Town"), and J. Corinne Ferguson (“Ms. Ferguson”), whose address is 

224 Dorris Avenue, Paonia, CO 81428.  

 

RECITALS 

 

A. Ms. Ferguson is currently the Town Clerk for the Town of Paonia; and   

  

B. Pursuant to a June 9, 2020 Employment Agreement, Ms. Ferguson is the Town 

Administrator for the Town of Paonia; and  

 

C. The June 9, 2020 Employment Agreement is set to expire May 31, 2021; and   

 

D. The Town, by and through its Board of Trustees, has elected to extend the employment 

of Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator to December 31, 2022; and  

 

E. Ms. Ferguson is willing to continue to serve as Town Administrator;  

 

F. The employment and services of Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator is subject to the 

terms of this Employment Agreement.    

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises contained herein and other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the 

parties agree as follows: 

 

Section 1: Term 

 

A. This Agreement shall commence on January 1, 2021 and continue until December 31, 

2022. 

 

B. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary within this Agreement, Ms. Ferguson, as Town 

Administrator/Town Clerk, shall be deemed to be an employee at will, and nothing in this 

Agreement shall prevent or otherwise interfere with the right of the Town Board of 

Trustees to terminate the services of Ms. Ferguson as the Town Administrator at any time, 

subject only to the applicable provisions of this Agreement. Likewise, nothing in this 

Agreement shall prevent or otherwise interfere with the right of Ms. Ferguson to resign at 

any time as the Town Administrator. Should Ms. Ferguson’s role as Town Administrator 

be terminated, Ms. Ferguson will revert to her role as Town Clerk, and her salary will 

thereafter be adjusted accordingly.  Termination of Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator 

shall not automatically be grounds for termination of Ms. Ferguson as Town Clerk.   

 

316



 

2021 Employment Agreement - Page 2 of 7 

C. This Employment Agreement is renewable at the sole discretion of the Town Board.  Any 

proposed changes to the agreement shall be provided to Ms. Ferguson for her concurrence 

on or before December 1st of each expiration year. 

 

Section 2: Duties and Authority 

 

A.  The Town agrees to employ Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator and Town Clerk to 

perform the functions and duties in accordance with the Paonia Municipal Code and the Job 

Description, attached to this Agreement as Exhibit A, and to perform other legally 

permissible and proper duties and functions as prescribed by Colorado State statute as well 

as the Board of Trustees from time to time. 

  

B. While serving as Town Administrator, Ms. Ferguson shall continue to serve as the Town 

Clerk for the Town, in accordance with her current job description and as prescribed by the 

Town Code.    

 

C. Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator shall not oversee the Chief of Police.  There is an 

inherent conflict of interest as Ms. Ferguson is married to Town Chief of Police Neil 

Ferguson.  For so long as Ms. Ferguson is serving as Town Administrator, the Chief of Police 

shall report directly to the Mayor of the Town and shall not report to the Town Administrator.  

 

Section 3: Compensation 

 

A. Base Salary: The Town agrees to pay Ms. Ferguson a monthly base salary of Six Thousand 

Four Hundred Thirteen Dollars and Thirty-Four Cents ("Base Salary").  Salary shall be 

paid periodically on the same regular paydays applicable to all other Town employees.    

 

B. Employees Benefits:  During the term of this Agreement, and thereafter when specifically 

provided herein, Ms. Ferguson, in addition to the Base Salary provided for in Section 3, 

shall have and be entitled to receive from the Town the following employee benefits: 

 

i. Personal Time Off (PTO) to the extent such is provided for under the Town's 

employee benefit package; 

 

ii. Disability coverage to the extent such is provided for under the Town's employee 

benefit package; 

 

iii. Health, dental and vision benefits to the extent such is provided under the Town's 

employee benefit package; 

 

iv. Payment of 95% of costs of the health insurance plan of the Town Administrator;   

 

v. Life, accidental death, and dismemberment insurance to the extent such is provided 

under the Town's employee benefit package; and 

 

317



 

2021 Employment Agreement - Page 3 of 7 

vi. Retirement benefits on the same basis as all other non-police, full-time employees 

of the Town. 

 

C. General Business Expenses:  During the terms of this Agreement, the Town shall cover the 

following general businesses expenses incurred by Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator: 

 

i. For the purposes of attending to Town Business during the winter months, the Town 

shall provide the Ms. Ferguson with access to a Town owned four-wheel-drive 

vehicle which may be used for attending to Town Business outside the limits of the 

Town.  

 

ii. The Town agrees to support at least two (2) CML administrator training options, if 

offered by CML at no cost, in the next twelve months. 

 

Section 4:  Performance Review 

 

A. The Personnel Committee shall complete a performance review of The Town 

Administrator/Town Clerk on or before January 1, 2022 and report its findings to the 

Mayor and Board of Trustees at the next regular meeting of the Town Board.   

 

Section 5: Termination and Severance 

 

A. For the purpose of this Agreement, termination shall occur when: 

 

i. The majority of the Board of Trustees votes to terminate the Town Administrator 

at a duly authorized public meeting and provides a minimum of thirty (30) days’ 

written notice to the Town Administrator, or   

 

ii. Breach of contract is declared by either party, and provided a cure is not met 

within thirty (30) days by either the Town Administrator or the Town, with 

written notice of a breach of contract shall be provided in accordance with the 

provisions contained herein, or 

 

iii. Cause as determined by the Board of Trustees.  

 

B. Cause under this Agreement shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 

i. Failure to comply with applicable material provisions of the Paonia Municipal Code 

or the Town of Paonia Employee Resource Guide; 

 

ii. Disclosure of confidential information, documents or correspondence without 

authorization; 

 

iii. Indulging in repeated offensive conduct or abusive conduct directed at Town 

employees or members of the public; 

 

318



 

2021 Employment Agreement - Page 4 of 7 

iv. Failure to comply with applicable provision of the standards of conduct for local 

governmental officials contained in C.R.S. § 24-18-101 to 24-18-206; 

 

v. Any conduct that results or could result, in the reasonable judgment of the Town, 

in the conviction of a felony or crime involving fraud, theft, or misappropriation; 

or 

 

vi. Failure to perform job duties following prior written notice, or conduct which 

constitutes insubordination or dereliction of duties, in either case in the reasonable 

judgment of the Board of Trustees. 

 

C. In the event Ms. Ferguson is terminated without cause as Town Administrator, during 

the term of this Employment Agreement, she shall be entitled to three (3) months’ 

severance pay.  

 

Section 6: Resignation 

 

The Town Administrator may elect to terminate this Agreement without cause by giving the Town 

written notice of her intention to terminate. The Town Administrator shall not be entitled to any 

severance if she makes such an election. Such notice shall specify a termination date that shall not 

be less than thirty (30) days from the date the notice is given. Unless otherwise agreed in writing 

by both parties, the Town Administrator shall continue to perform the duties of the Town 

Administrator, as described herein, on a full-time basis until the termination date specified in the 

notice. The Town Administrator shall continue to receive compensation and benefits herein 

provided for so long as she continues to perform such duties. All compensation and employee 

benefits shall cease to accrue on the termination date or upon such earlier date when the Town 

Administrator is no longer performing the duties of her office as described herein. 

 

Section 7:  Hours of Work 

 

The Town expects and the Town Administrator agrees that the Town Administrator's hours of 

employment must be flexible and sometimes will be long and irregular. The Town Administrator's 

duties hereunder will often require her attendance at and participation in meetings and other 

functions which occur during evening hours and occasionally on weekends. The Administrator 

understands and agrees that she will not be entitled to overtime pay, or any other form of financial 

remuneration over and above the Base Salary and benefits provided for herein with respect to the 

performance of her duties and her long hours of service hereunder, and that she shall be deemed 

an "exempt" employee under the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.  Given Ms. 

Ferguson’s service as both Town Administrator and Town Clerk, she shall also be considered an 

“exempt” employee while serving as the Town Clerk.   

 

 

 

Section 8: Outside Activities 

 

319



 

2021 Employment Agreement - Page 5 of 7 

Notwithstanding Ms. Ferguson’s service as the Town Clerk, the employment provided for by this 

Agreement shall be the Town Administrator's sole employment. 

 

Section 9: Indemnification 

 

The Town Administrator shall be defended and indemnified in her actions undertaken in her 

official capacity as Town Administrator pursuant to all insurance coverages maintained by the 

Board and pursuant to the terms of the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act.  The Town 

Administrator shall, however, not be indemnified for any act or omission that is willful and wanton, 

as those terms are defined under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act. 

 

Section 10: Bonding 

 

Town shall bear the full cost of any fidelity or other bonds required of the Town Administrator 

under any law or ordinance. 

 

Section 11: Other Terms and Conditions of Employment 

 

The Town, only upon agreement with the Town Administrator, shall fix any such other terms and 

conditions of employment, as it may determine from time to time, relating to the performance of 

the Town Administrator, provided such terms and conditions are not inconsistent with or in conflict 

with the provisions of this Agreement, the Municipal Code or any other law. 

 

Section 12: Notices 

 

Notice pursuant to this Agreement shall be given by depositing in the custody of the United States 

Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 

(1) TOWN:  Town of Paonia  

    c/o Mayor  

    P.O. Box 460 

    Paonia, CO 81428 

  

(2) EMPLOYEE:  J. Corinne Ferguson  

    224 Dorris Avenue              

    Paonia, CO 81428 

 

Alternatively, notice required pursuant to this Agreement may be personally served in the same 

manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the date of 

personal service or as the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of transmission in the 

United States Postal Service. 

 

 

 

Section 13: General Provisions 

 

320



 

2021 Employment Agreement - Page 6 of 7 

A. Integration. This Agreement sets forth and establishes the entire understanding between the 

Town and the Town Administrator relating to the employment of the Town Administrator 

by the Town. Any prior discussions or representations by or between the parties are merged 

into and rendered null and void by this Agreement. The parties by mutual written agreement 

may amend any provision of this Agreement during the term of the Agreement. Such 

amendments shall be incorporated and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

B. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding on the Town and the Town Administrator 

as well as their heirs, assigns, executors, personal representatives and successors in interest. 

 

C. Effective Date. This Agreement shall be effective January 1, 2021. 

 

D. Severability. The invalidity or partial invalidity of any portion of this Agreement will not 

affect the validity of any other provision. In the event that any provision of this Agreement 

is held to be invalid, the remaining provisions shall be deemed to be in full force and effect 

as if they have been executed by both parties subsequent to the expungement or judicial 

modification of the invalid provision. 

 

E. Waiver. The waiver by either party of any breach of any provision of this Agreement shall 

not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of that same or any other 

provision. 

 

F. The parties agree and acknowledge that in the event of a dispute concerning this Agreement 

or the Interim Town Administrator's employment, venue for any such dispute shall be proper 

in Delta County District Court. Further, the parties agree that prior to becoming involved in 

any litigation regarding this Agreement or the Interim Town Administrator's employment, 

they shall first attend mediation to attempt to resolve any such dispute and use their best 

efforts to resolve the same. To the extent mediation fails and/or litigation ensues, the party 

that substantially prevails shall be entitled to full reimbursement of all reasonable legal fees 

and costs, including expert and attorney’s fees if any, whether related to mediation or 

litigation. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, the Board of Trustees approves this Agreement at a regular meeting of 

the Board of Trustees this 26th day of January 2021.  

 

 

       TOWN OF PAONIA 

 

       By:       

         Mary Bachran, Mayor 

 

 

Signatures continued on next page.  

 

 

 

321



 

2021 Employment Agreement - Page 7 of 7 

       TOWN ADMINISTRATOR 

 

 

       By:       

      J. Corinne Ferguson,  

     Town Administrator 

 

Attest:  _____________________________  

        Amanda Mojarro 

        Deputy Town Clerk 

 

  

322



 EXHIBIT A - FINAL  

Town Administrator – Page 1 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA 

 

JOB DESCRIPTION 

 

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR/TOWN CLERK 

 

 

Department:  Administration 

FLSA Status:  Exempt 

Reports To:  Mayor & Board of Trustees 

Directly Supervises: Department Heads and indirectly all Town Staff except the Town Attorney, 

Police Chief and Municipal Judge 

 

General Statement of Duties -  

 

At the pleasure of the Board of Trustees, this position is the Chief Administrative Officer of the Town and 

serves as Town Clerk. Under the general supervision of the Mayor, directs and coordinates the day-to-day 

activities of all departments, department heads and employees of the Town of Paonia.  Exercises authority 

(including appointment and removal) over all other management, supervisory, professional, technical, 

clerical and other staff.  Insures proper implementation of elections, processing of liquor licenses, records 

management and Board meeting documents. 

 

Essential Functions – 

 

Essential functions of the position include, but are not limited to:  

 

 Statutory Mandated Clerk Duties; 

 Performs a wide variety of functions to facilitate the administrative operations of the Town; 

 Attends all Board meetings, participates in discussion and makes recommendations to the Board; 

 Assists Mayor in the development of agendas for all meetings; 

 Serves as Human Resources Officer, unless otherwise assigned; 

 Prepares and submits annual Town budget in compliance with Colorado budget laws; 

 Manages staff to obtain effective and efficient use of budgeted funds, personnel, materials 

facilities and time; 

 Ensures proper administration and execution of the Paonia Municipal Code, of agreements and 

contracts executed by the Town and all other policies, rules and regulations as approved by the 

Board of Trustees; 

 Manages, directs and develops systems for long-range planning and prioritization of projects and 

programs.  Develops and implements the Comprehensive Plan for the Town; 

 Works with legal counsel with regard to legal issues involving the Town; 

 Serves as principal public relations, public information and intergovernmental affairs officer for 

the Town.  When directed, represents the Town at meetings with federal, state and other local 

government officials; 

 Oversees all Town purchases and approves major purchases of goods and services; 

 Reviews and makes recommendations on all applications for development, subdivisions, special 

use permits, annexations and other community development activities; 

 Oversees the coordination and management of all Town-sponsored events; the review and 

permitting of privately-sponsored special events on Town-owned property and the provision of 

Town services as may associated with said events; 

323



 EXHIBIT A - FINAL  

Town Administrator – Page 2 

 

 Oversees all professional and consulting service agreements entered into by the Town, including 

engineering, architectural, financial, planning & zoning, human resources, etc.; 

 Conducts regular staff meetings to establish project priorities and to ensure the coordination of 

such information between staff and the Board of Trustees; 

 Prepares special reports and provides analysis and evaluation as directed by the Board; 

 Develops and supervises grant applications and awards. 

 

Required Knowledge, Skills and Abilities – 

 

Knowledge of: 

 

 Modern practices and principles of public administration; 

 The workings, laws and regulations affecting the operation of municipal government; 

 Research methods and practices, sources and availability of information; 

 Modern municipal public finance administration and practices; 

 Fiscal and other laws specific to Colorado such as GASB, TABOR and the Gallagher 

Amendment; 

 Risk management and insurance issues; 

 Employment laws such as FLSA, ADA, HIPPA, COBRA, Worker’s Compensation, 

Unemployment and the Family Medical Leave Act; and 

 Federal, State and local laws and ordinances regulating the Town’s operations. 

 

Skilled in: 

 

 Preparing and presenting written and oral reports; and 

 Communicating effectively with a wide variety of people, including the Board of Trustees, 

department heads, employees and representatives of other governmental agencies. 

 

Ability to: 

 

 Plan and coordinate a variety of problem-solving and fact-finding projects; 

 Explain and interpret Town policies, procedures and functions; 

 Establish realistic goals and priorities and attain them; 

 Maintain effective working relationships with the public, media, Board, employees and citizens; 

 Learn and retain technical and complex information, terminology, policies and procedures; 

 Maintain composure under difficult situations; 

 Communicate with personnel and the public in a tactful and courteous manner in face-to-face, 

one-on-one settings, in group settings, telephonically, electronically and in writing; 

 Prepare and present ideas and findings clearly and concisely in written, oral and graphic form 

using proper sentence construction, punctuation and grammar; 

 Carry out complex oral and written instructions; 

 Research and prepare complex reports; 

 Work well independently and with others to establish and attain objectives; 

 Ensure accountability within the organization; and 

 Organize workflow and manage time effectively. 

 

Required Physical Capabilities – 

 

324



 EXHIBIT A - FINAL  

Town Administrator – Page 3 

 

While performing the duties of the job, the employee is regularly required to sit, talk, hear and 

occasionally lift and carry up to 20 pounds.  The employee is regularly required to see, using close and 

medium range vision.  The employee is often required to work with and around standard office 

equipment. 

 

Working Environment – 

 

The essential duties/activities of this position are performed in a variety of locations with exposure to 

differing exterior and interior environments. 

 

Material and Equipment Directly Used – 

 

Desktop and/or laptop/notebook computer with email, Microsoft Office software, writing utensils, 

calculator, desk calendar/appointment book or scheduling software and cell phone/telephone with 

voicemail. 

 

Additional Requirements – 

 

Requires travel to off-site locations for meetings, appointments, conferences and trainings.  Must possess 

a valid Colorado driver’s license and have an acceptable driving record. 

 

Education and Experience – 

 

Bachelor’s degree in Public or Business Administration or a similar field; five (5) years of progressively 

responsible experience in government and/or business with a minimum of three (3) years of working in 

local government administration, finance, planning or similar area; or any combination of education and 

experience. 

 

The Town of Paonia is an Equal Opportunity Employer.  In compliance with the Americans with 

Disabilities Act, the Town will provide reasonable accommodations to qualified individuals with 

disabilities and encourages both prospective and current employees to discuss potential accommodations 

with the employer. 

 

 

 

   

Employee’s Signature  Supervisor’s Signature 

   

   

   

Date  Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

325



DAN J. DEAN 
     

 

 

November 4, 2021 

 

Mary Bachran, Mayor 

PO Box 460 

Paonia, CO 81428 

 

Dear Mayor Bachran: 

 

I am writing to speak to the character and professionalism of Corinne Ferguson. While serving as the 

interim town administrator for the Town of Paonia from September 2016 to January 2017 I had the 

opportunity to work with Corinne as the town clerk.  She conducted herself in a professional manner. 

Corinne was knowledgeable and responsible for her duties as town clerk. She was thorough in her 

research and diligent in her duties.  

 

She was courteous and respectful in sharing her thoughts and perspectives.  Corinne actively 

participated in discussions and accepted decisions in a positive manner.  Corinne respectfully listened 

to constructive criticism and responded to them appropriately.  We had frank discussions during my 

time as the interim administrator. I trusted and relied on Corinne for guidance on the technical aspect 

of the clerk’s responsibilities and duties. She was also adept on providing me local history and 

perspective. 

 

I found Corinne to be a strong asset to the town and myself. While Corinne may be a novice as a town 

administrator, as the town clerk she conducted herself in a very professional manner and was very 

knowledgeable about the operation of the Town of Paonia, and well versed in the history of the 

community.  

 

Respectfully,  

 
 

 
Dan J. Dean 

 

Attachment 

326



Hello Town of Paonia, 
 
I am writing to express my gratitude for the current atmosphere and functionality of 
the Town offices.  I have lived in Paonia for over twenty years and the current staff is 
by far the best I have seen. 
 
I'd like to point out what we DO NOT have right now that we have had in the past: 
 
- A thieving Town Clerk 
- Deranged Town Managers 
-Grumpy, indifferent employees 
-Incompetence 
-Arrogance 
 
What we do have right now is a group that is friendly and professional.  They care 
about what they are doing.  They try hard.  This is what good employees do.  I 
appreciate having them in the Town Hall.  We are fortunate to have them. 
 
Best regards, 
Steve Chavez 
 

327



328



Jacqueline Taylor 

 

 

 

 

 

To the Citizens and Trustees of Paonia 

My late husband and I resided in Paonia at 4 Pan American Avenue from September 20, 2001 until I sold 
the house in December of 2018 and moved in January of 2019.  I attended town meetings as often as 
health concerns and work schedules allowed. 

Corrine was a fine trustee and an inspiration to me while she served.  I was approached by a former 
mayor to run for town council and declined because my job at the time would not allow me the time to 
be as thorough and well prepared to deal with issues as Corrine was. 

I was disappointed when the town lost her as a trustee, but delighted when she returned as an 
employee.  I know her to be a hardworking, honest and thorough person who is a credit to the town in 
any position she occupies.  I attended all but 2 town meetings, including special meetings from 
November of 2017 through December of 2018 and saw nothing but thorough research and preparation 
from the Clerk’s office. 

Since I am no longer able to attend meetings, I am not quite sure what the complaints about Corrine’s 
performance entail, but I can only urge you all to consider the source and character of the complainers.  
I consider Corrine’s character to be above reproach , but cannot say the same for the folks whose names 
I have read in the paper (DCI and Merchant Herald) or her so-called anonymous supporters who are said 
to be afraid of reprisals or criticism.   

Anonymous sources of any stripe belong to the Great American Bird Species:  The White Sheeted Yellow 
Belly. 

Thank you,  

Jakki Taylor 

 

 

 

329



Dear Paonia Town Board, 

I am writing a letter for you to consider as you once again discuss the contract for your Town Manager. I 

write this letter not in any official capacity but as Corinne’s friend that is concerned about her wellbeing. 

She and I have been mentors to one another for many years, and have supported each other through 

many ups and downs. She indicated she can provide you letters of support, and I am so very happy to 

offer her my full support. I have known and worked with Corinne since she was first a Town Board 

member for Paonia. She was always prepared, thoughtful, asked tough questions, and ultimately 

worked towards what she believed was in the best interest of the Town. I have watched her join the 

staff, learn her position as Deputy Clerk, move into the role of Town Clerk, and now in her dual role of 

Manager/Clerk. I have the utmost respect for her tremendous dedication to Paonia, her willingness to 

tackle any issue in front of her, and her keen insight into Paonia. I can honestly say that I have never 

once heard her speak ill of anyone though I have read numerous things said about and to Corinne as 

reported in the paper. In our own conversations over the past several months, she has refused to even 

consider a negative comment about anyone that has done the same to her, but has sought help and 

guidance in how to deal with what is clearly becoming an untenable situation for everyone.   

For many of you on the Board, you may not realize how involved I used to be with Paonia when I 

worked with DOLA. For better or worse, I helped you with the grant that supported the creation of the 

Town Manager position. When Ms. Barry was Manager, I pushed back on the effort to combine the 

Manager and Clerk job at that time. The DOLA grant was not intended to fund a dual position, but to 

increase Paonia’s management capacity. These two functions require different focus, though are not 

necessarily exclusive of one another. While there are several communities that have Manager/Clerks; 

these are typically separate positions for good reason.  

As Paonia knows all so well, the manager job is fraught with political insecurity. Turnover in this position 

averages five years across the industry. If you lose a manager, you are replacing one key position in your 

organization. If you lose a manager/clerk, you have a gap in two of your most critical functions as a 

town.  

Finding a manager that is a good fit for a community can be challenging. Paonia has unique issues and a 

unique personality. While I do not typically believe that the Manager/Clerk job should be combined, I do 

truly believe that Corinne is an exception. Her understanding of and roots in Paonia are something you 

cannot replace. Her dedication, willingness to keep trying, humility, and hard work will be hard to 

replace.  She has intuition that no formal education can teach.  I don’t believe that someone has to have 

a formal degree in public administration to be successful at this job. I myself do not and have found 

nothing but success. I believe Corinne has that same opportunity for great success. 

What Corinne needs to be successful as your Manager is your support. She needs meaningful feedback 

of what is working and what isn’t. She needs people to publicly stand up for her when she is being 

attacked for petty things and accused of wrongdoings that are not accurate. If there are concerns, then 

she needs your help problem solving solutions. She needs clear policies and procedures to implement, 

not micromanagement. She needs to feel that you have her back because she has yours. If there are 

short comings, she needs training. Corinne has shown me over and over for the eleven years I have 

known and worked with her that she can learn and adapt given the opportunity.  

330



I hope your discussion with Corinne goes well for everyone involved, and if there is anything I can do to 

help support Corinne to become the best manager she can be, I am more than happy to do so. Corinne’s 

success, or that of anyone in the Manager position, requires not only that Corinne gives her best, but 

the same from the Board. It’s a team effort. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Elyse Ackerman‐Casselberry 

 

331



From: Amanda Mojarro
To: Corinne Ferguson
Subject: FW: Review of Corrine Ferguson
Date: Friday, November 5, 2021 8:48:28 AM

 
 

From: Greg Cody  
Sent: Friday, November 5, 2021 5:50 AM
To: Amanda Mojarro <amanda@townofpaonia.com>
Subject: Review of Corrine Ferguson
 
Hi,
    I would like to submit my review of Corrine Ferguson's performance as town administrator.
I have had to deal with city hall for several years on our remodel of 312 Grand Ave. In that
time ,I have been met with professionalism through the entire process. Corrine gets things
done. There are many challenges to remodeling a 140year old building and she has made it
easy. Questions are answered quickly and with great though. And always with a smile. As far
as I can see, she is the best town administrator I have witnessed in the 13 years I have owned
property in the Town of Paonia. 
 
Thanks,
Greg
Cody Construction, LLC

332



333



334



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Impact Fee from Enterprise Funds to Streets Capital Fund Discussion 

Summary:   

Board motion to discuss enterprise fund impact fee. 

 

Notes: 

 

1. Legality:  Upon investigation I have again confirmed it is not illegal to assess an 

impact fee from enterprise fund to general fund.  

 

2. Consistency: Many communities include the same or similar practice in their 

community.  Examples: Johnstown – 5% of revenue from water/wastewater to general 

fund and designated to parks. Elizabeth – 3.5% fee from water/wastewater to general 

fund. Bayfield – 15% of enterprise fund revenue to general fund. Cedaredge - % of 

enterprise fund revenue as Admin Fee to General fund and right-of-way impact fee 

from water/wastewater for streets. 

 

3. Staff recommendation:  Staff recommends the Board enact an ordinance permitting an 

enterprise impact fee to be assessed and transferred to the general fund.  Staff also 

recommends the ordinance include language directing the impact fee charge to be 

determined on an annual basis during budget preparation. 

 

4. Staff recommendation continued: In light of the streets/streets capital fund having 

needed monies for the immediate 2022 calendar year, staff commitment to preparing a 

formal capital improvement plan in 2022, and the immediate need in the water 

enterprise fund, staff has tentatively removed the impact fee from the 2022 draft budget 

and recommends the board direct the Town attorney in January 2022 to begin the 

aforementioned ordinance. 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

335



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Main Avenue Fence 

Summary:   

Discussion regarding process for fence review. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

336



From the desk of Corinne Ferguson 
Town Administrator/Clerk 
 

  

           10/18/2021 
 

Fence Ordinance 2020-06 Fences Hedges, and Walls 
 
Trustees,  
 
Fence Ordinance 2020-06 went into effect August 2020.  February of 2021, I 
received a fence application.  This was the first fence application with a request 
for a height to exceed six feet since ordinance 2020-06 was enacted.  I 
reviewed the application, received approval for the height request from public 
works and the police department, and approved the application.   
 
All steps were completed in accordance with the ordinance other than 
confirming neighbor notification of height.  To avoid any such oversight in the 
future staff has created a steps checklist that requires initialing to confirm all 
required steps are taken. 
 
Staff reviews location, height, and materials for fencing based on diagram 
provided only. Staff requires the applicant to provide photo documentation for 
file upon completion of fence.  It is the property-owner responsibility to 
confirm fencing is on their property line (18-9-10[1]).   
 
Staff recommends the Board direct Attorney Nerlin to draft a right-of-way 
encroachment for when any structure encroaches on to Town property or 
right-of-way and modify 18-9-10 (3) and ordinance 2020-06 #9 accordingly.  
 
Thank you, 
 
Corinne Ferguson 
Town Administrator/Clerk 

337



338



339



340



341



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Resolution 2021-08 Town Participation in the National Opioid Settlement 

Support of The State of Colorado 

Summary:   

State of Colorado request for municipality to support benefits for the national opioid 

settlement. 

 

Notes: 

 

The state needs 95% subdivision participation to receive full funding from two settlements.  

There is no obligation or requirement for the municipalities to budget or expend funds. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

342



 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION 2021-08 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE TOWN 

OF PAONIA APPROVING COLORADO’S OPIOID SETTLEMENT 

AND RECOVERY 
 

WHEREAS, the Colorado Department of Law has come to an agreement with Colorado’s 

local governments for distributing opioid settlement and recovery funds to local counties and 

municipalities; and 

 

WHEREAS, to maximize the settlement funds within Colorado, it is important that all 

Colorado counties and municipalities participate in these settlements and the distribution process. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

PAONIA, COLORADO: 

 

1. Recitals. The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings and 

determinations of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia (“Board”). 

 
2. Approval. The Board approves for execution by the Mayor and Town Clerk  the 

following documents: 

 
(1) The Memorandum of Understanding that lays out the allocation of Opioid 

recoveries in the State of Colorado; 

(2) The Subdivision Settlement Participation Form that releases subdivisions’ legal 

claims against Johnson & Johnson; 

(3) The Subdivision Settlement Participation Form that releases subdivisions’ legal 

claims against AmerisourceBergen, Cardinal Health, and McKesson; and 

(4) The Colorado Subdivision Escrow Agreement that ensures subdivisions’ legal 

claims are released only when 95% participation by certain local governments 

has been reached. 

 
3. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect upon adoption hereof. 

 

ADOPTED this day of , 2021. 

 

PAONIA Board of Trustees 
 

 

 

 
ATTEST: 

By:   

Mayor 

 

 
 

Town Clerk 
 

1 
343



 

2545175_1 

344



 

November 5, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Town of Paonia Purchasing Policy Updates including Non-Essential 

Purchases 

Summary:   

Continued from July 27, 2021, meeting 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

Being researched and to be added – Language regarding FEMA guidelines for purchases in a 

disaster. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

345



DRAFT 7/23/21 
 
 

       
   
 
 

1 

Town of Paonia Purchasing Policy 
 

1. PURPOSE: 
  
 To provide guidance to the Town Board and staff in an effort to set forth a standard of 
integrity when purchasing goods and services on behalf of the Town, provide for the most 
efficient use of taxpayers’ dollars, provide for timely purchases, and follow common sense and 
good business practices.   
 

2. PRIORITIES: 
 
 In selecting products and service providers, the Town considers and weighs all of the 
following criteria: 
 

A. Pricing:  Ensure that the Town receives the required product or service at the lowest 
possible costs and highest value. 
 

B. Quality:  Using the purchasing and bidding parameters identified within this policy 
document, it will be the intent to acquire the highest quality product and service for 
the Town. 
 

C. Competition:  Provide vendors an equal opportunity to sell to the Town.  [non-
discrimination statement here] 
 

D. Environmentally Preferable Purchasing (EPP):  EPP is the purchase of products and 
services that have a lesser or reduced effect on human health and the environment 
when compared to competing products and services that serve the same purpose.  
This policy will give preference to products that minimize environmental impacts 
over the lifetime of the product.  
 

E. Local Preference:  Purchasing goods and services from local vendors is desired 
because it stimulates the local economy and recognizes that our local vendors are 
valued members of our community.  If factors such as quality, previous 
performance, and availability are equal among vendors, a vendor whose business is 
located in Paonia shall be awarded a contract if their quote or bid is within 5% of the 
low bid. 

 
 
 
 

 

346



DRAFT 7/23/21 
 
 

       
   
 
 

2 

3.  PROCESS: 
 
In an attempt to acquire the highest quality products and services at the lowest cost, the 
following purchasing processes will be used: 
 
A. Quotes:  For purchases between $2,000 and $10,000, a minimum of three (3) quotes 

will be solicited/received from qualified vendors.  If, despite solicitation for quotes, 
fewer than three (3) quotes are received, the Town Administrator may choose a 
vendor from the quotes that were received. 
 

B. Request for Bids and Proposals:  For capital purchases greater than $10,000, a 
bidding process soliciting formal bids or a request for proposals (“RFP”) will be used.  
Specifications or a scope of services will be developed and included in the bid or 
RFP.  Bidding levels, RFP development, bonding and insurance requirements are 
more fully described in the Purchasing manual. 

 
C. Advertising:  At a minimum, all formal bids and RFPs will be advertised in at least 

one of the following locations: 
 

- A newspaper of general circulation in the Town 
- Other publications of limited circulation or trade journals 
- Electronic purchasing web sites 

   
In addition, all formal bids and RFPs will be posted on the Town’s website.  Also, any 
vendor who requests to be included on the Town’s bid list will receive copies of 
relevant solicitations. 
 

D. Term/Duration:  For non-recurring and one-time acquisitions, depending on the 
monetary level of the purchases (see Table in 4.A.), a competitive procurement 
process will be used.  For the purchase of recurring products and services, formal 
bids will be solicited at least every four (4) years, if not more frequently, as 
determined by the Town Administrator.   
 

  
 

4. PURCHASING AUTHORITY: 
 
A. Purchasing Levels/Approval Requirements for Budgeted Items:  Find below a table 

which establishes purchasing/bidding levels and approval requirements for all 
budgeted acquisitions: 

 

347



DRAFT 7/23/21 
 
 

       
   
 
 

3 

  Approved Budget Items 
 

Dollar Limit Bids/Proposal Approvals 
Up to $2,000 None Required Department Head 
$2,001 to $10,000 Minimum of three (3) Quotes 

Required 
Department Head 
Town Administrator 

$10,001 to $20,000 Formal Bid or Proposal Required Department Head 
Town Administrator 
Town Board 

$20,001 to $100,000 Formal Bid or Proposal Required Town Administrator 
Town Board 
 

Over $100,000 Formal Bid or Proposal Required Town Board 

 
    
B. Contracts/Record Maintenance: Any contract for $12,000 or more must be 

submitted to the Town Board for its approval.  The Town Administrator, or his or her 
designee, is authorized to enter into and sign on behalf of the Town.  All original 
agreements/contracts shall be provided to the Town Clerk for maintenance with the 
Town records. 
 

C. Change Orders:  Any change order which in total increases the aggregate acquisition 
cost by more than 15% will require approval by the party who originally approved 
the purchase.  Additionally, any change order which increases the cost to the next 
dollar limit threshold will require approvals of the appropriate individual/entity at 
that threshold. 

 
D. Multi-year Contracts:  A contract for supplies or services may be entered into for any 

period of time deemed to be in the best interest of the Town, provided that the 
term of the contract and renewal provisions are included in the original solicitation 
process.  Adequate funds must be available to fulfill the first fiscal year’s obligation 
at the time of contract execution.  Subsequent years’ appropriations are subject to 
authorization by the Town Board of Trustees.   
 

5. EXCEPTIONS:   
 
A. Cooperative Purchasing:  products or services for which other public agencies have 

gone through a competitive bidding process and are able to have their bid prices 

348



DRAFT 7/23/21 
 
 

       
   
 
 

4 

extended to the town are exempt from the competitive bidding guidelines. The town 
may also participate in joint bidding with other agencies if it is in the best interest of 
Paonia to do so. 

 
B. Sole Source Purchasing:  Purchase of products or services which can be provided by 

only one (1) supplier or only from one (1) source due to patent, copyright or other 
issues are exempt from the competitive bidding guidelines.  Examples would include 
utility providers, upgrade to existing software, water share/ditch assessments, travel 
and education expenses. 

 
C. Emergencies:  The provisions of the Purchasing Policy may be suspended by the 

Town Administrator for emergency needs.  Emergency needs are those 
unforeseeable purchases necessary to be made on the day of the need to continue 
uninterrupted service to the citizens of Paonia.  In the event of an emergency need, 
the Board of Trustees will be notified if the purchase exceeds $20,000 and 
retroactive approval will be sought at the next Board meeting. 

 
D. Non-Budgeted Purchases:  Any non-budgeted purchases in excess of $10,000 will 

require Board of Trustees approval.  For purposes of this subsection, “non-
budgeted” means operating or capital expenses not included in the Town’s annual 
budget. 

 
6. FEDERAL FUNDING: 

 
 Purchases of goods or services which are funded by Federal grants, or which may 
subsequently be submitted to FEMA for reimbursement under disaster relief programs, must 
follow guidelines promulgated under 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.317 – 200.326.  In the case of exigent or 
emergency circumstances, FEMA may waive bidding requirements and allow noncompetitive 
procurements.  All contracts subject to Federal regulations should be reviewed by the Town 
Attorney. 
 
  
    

 

349



Paonia Purchasing Policy  Adopted March 14, 2017 

1 
 

PURCHASING POLICY 
 
Use of Policy 
This policy and the award of bid and other provisions herein are promulgated solely in support of 
the proper exercise of the Town’s fiscal responsibilities, including administration of annually 
appropriated funds, and solely for the benefit of the Town of Paonia, and confer no rights, duties 
or entitlements to any bidders or proposers. 
 
PURCHASING GUIDELINES 
1) Vendor relations - Town employees will conduct all purchasing functions in a professional 

manner and shall promote equal opportunity and fairness in all vendor relations.  

2) Ethics and standards of behavior - All purchasing functions shall be conducted impartially to 

assure fair competitive access by responsible vendors. In addition, public employees should 

conduct themselves in a manner that will foster public confidence in the procurement process.  

3) Local preference - Purchasing goods and services from local vendors is desired because it 

stimulates the local economy and recognizes that our local vendors are valued members of 

our community. If factors such as quality, previous performance, and availability are equal 

among vendors, a vendor whose business is located in Paonia shall be awarded a contract if 

their quote or bid is within 5% of the low bid.  

4) Multi-year contracts -  A contract for supplies or services may be entered into for any period 

of time deemed to be in the best interest of the Town, provided that the term of the contract 

and renewal provisions are included in the original solicitation process. Adequate funds must 

be available to fulfill the first fiscal year’s obligation at the time of contract execution. 

Subsequent years’ appropriations are subject to authorization by the Town Board of Trustees.  

5) Purchasing authority - The Town Administrator, or his or her designee, is authorized to enter 

into and sign on behalf of the town. At the discretion of the Town Administrator, any contract 

may be submitted to the Council for its approval. 

BIDDING 
Bidding procedures are used to provide vendors the opportunity to bid, to elicit greater vendor 
response, to meet competitive bid requirements when imposed by state or federal law, and to 
promote competitive prices from vendors for the purchase of capital equipment and other items 
of significant monetary value. The Board of Trustees and/or Town Administrator may direct the 
use of a higher-level bidding process on the purchase of any product or service regardless of the 
amount to be spent.  As used herein, “bid” and “bidding” shall include requests for bids, requests 
for proposals, or requests for qualifications. The responsible department head, in consultation 
with the Finance Officer and Town Administrator, shall determine when bidding procedures shall 
utilize a request for bids, request for proposals or request for qualifications, as appropriate. 
 
All purchases of goods or acquisition of services of $10,001 and over and all purchases of cars, 
trucks, and heavy equipment shall require formal bidding procedures unless otherwise required 
by statute. 
 
Petty Cash & Small Non-Bid Purchases 
Less than $50.00 Complete a “Petty Cash” request form. Receipts and excess petty cash must be 
returned to the Finance Department within three business days of purchase. 
 
Minor Purchases 

350



Paonia Purchasing Policy  Adopted March 14, 2017 

2 
 

Purchases of $50 to $1,500 must be approved in advance by the Department Head. The Department 
Head is expected to not approve purchases that are outside the scope of the approved budget. 
 
Purchases  
Purchases between $1,501 and $5,000 must be approved in advance by the Department Head, the 
Finance Officer and the Town Administrator. Quotations are required from a minimum of 3 vendors. 
Town Administrator may waive quotation requirements if it is determined that it is not practical or 
advantageous to the interests of the Town. 
 
Informal Bidding 
Purchase requests of $5,000 to $25,000 must be approved in advance by the Department Head, the 
Finance Officer and the Town Administrator. Written quotes are required from a minimum of 3 vendors. 
Town Administrator may waive written quotation requirements if it is determined that it is not practical 
or advantageous to the interests of the Town. Proposals in this range must be submitted to the Town 
Board for approval before the purchase can be made. 
 

Steps to complete an informal bid: (unless otherwise stated, responsibility falls on requesting 
department): 
 
1) Develop specifications. Upon finalization of the specifications, prepare any documents 

required by the informal bid. 
2) Disseminate specifications to identified vendors, including dissemination by email, mail or 

other method as appropriate. 
3) Evaluate the bid results and determine which bid serves the Town’s best interests. 
4) Prepare a Purchase Requisition and obtain required approval for the level of purchasing. 
 

Formal Bidding 
Purchases of $10,001 and above must be approved by the Board of Trustees. Written quotations 
are required from a minimum of 3 vendors and the procurement must follow applicable provisions 
of the “Formal Bidding Requirements”. The Town Administrator may reduce the number of 
required bids and waive otherwise applicable formal bidding requirements if it is determined that 
it is not practical or advantageous to the interests of the Town. Proposals in this range must be 
submitted to the Town Board for approval before the purchase can be made. 
 
Requests for formal bids shall be distributed to qualified/identified vendors in the manner 
determined by the requesting department. In requests for formal bids shall be posted to the Town 
website and may be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the Town, in other 
publications of limited circulation, or in trade journals, but such publication is not required by the 
Policy. If publication of a request for formal bids is required for a particular procurement by federal 
or state law or by a funding agency, the requesting department shall prepare and arrange for 
publication of the required notice. 
 
Notices, general instructions, conditions, and specifications shall be mailed, posted to the Town 
website and otherwise made available to qualified/identified vendors. 
 
All requests for formal bids shall be reviewed and approved by the Town Administrator or 
designee prior to distribution. 
 
Steps to complete a formal bid (unless otherwise stated, responsibility falls on requesting 
department): 
 

351



Paonia Purchasing Policy  Adopted March 14, 2017 

3 
 

1) Develop specifications. Upon finalization of the specifications, determine any special 
requirements, such as bid, performance, and payment bonds; insurance; retainage; and any 
special requirements the requesting department may need. See bonding and insurance 
requirements listed below. 

2) Prepare all documents required for the request for formal bid. Bid documents shall contain the 
following information, as applicable to the particular procurement (a request for bids for a 
vehicle purchase typically would not include bond and/or insurance requirements.) and shall 
be determined by the requesting department head upon consultation with the Town 
Administrator: 
a. Where the bidder can obtain bid documents 
b. Bid submittal deadline 
c. Date, time and location of bid openings 
d. Any bond and/or insurance requirements 
e. Any special requirements 
f. A statement to the effect that the Town reserves the right to reject any and all bids, and to 

accept the bid deemed to be the lowest reliable and responsible bid 
g. A statement to the effect that all bids submitted become public information upon bid 

opening 
h. General conditions 
i. Minimum specifications 
j. Bid proposal form 
k. Delivery date or completion date 
l. Period of bid validity 

3) Determine bond, insurance, contract requirements. If any bonds, insurance, or contracts are 
required or are waived, obtain Town Attorney’s approval. See bonding and insurance 
requirements listed below. 

4) Distribute requests for bids. Make available a complete set of bid documents to all 
qualified/identified vendors or request vendors to pick up bid documents. 

5) Conduct the public bid opening per the identified bid opening date. 
6) Any bids received after the specified time will be returned to the bidder unopened. All 

bids/quotes/proposals should be retained for the minimum period required by the Town’s 
records retention schedule (generally three years after contract is awarded). 

7) Evaluate bids. Evaluate the bid results and determine which bid serves the Town’s best 
interests. If the recommended vendor has not submitted the low bid, the department must 
demonstrate how the higher bid serves the best interests of the Town. 

8) Prepare report to Board of Trustees for its review and action on the proposed procurement. 
9) Complete draft documents for Board packet. Obtain Town Attorney’s approval on all bid 

documents requiring bonds, insurance, or contracts prior to the Board of Trustees meeting. 
10) Upon Board of Trustees’ award of bid, notify successful bidder and notify other bidders of the 

results as requested. 
11) Obtain signatures on all contracts and any additional required documents from vendor. One 

original signed contract with all exhibits must be submitted to the Town Clerk for central filing. 
 
Emergency Purchases 
 
Emergency purchases shall be allowed in the case of health and welfare of the citizens of the 
Town is threatened upon the direction and approval of the Town Administrator and with the 
recommendation of the appropriate Department Head with notice and advice of the Town Finance 
Officer to insure the availability of funds.  An immediate report to the Board of Trustees shall be 
made detailing the purchase and cause of the emergency. 
 

352



Paonia Purchasing Policy  Adopted March 14, 2017 

4 
 

Professional Services 
 
Professional services include consultants such as accountants, architects, attorneys, engineers, 
lab services, and surveyors.  For multi-year contracts and contracts anticipated to exceed $20,000 
per year a Request for Qualifications (RFQ).  RFQs will be developed on a case-by-case basis 
outlining the general needs, education and experience desired.  For single year contracts of less 
than $20,000 the Town Board may authorize the Town Administrator to negotiate such contracts.  
Upon completion of the negotiations the Town Administrator shall present a proposal to the Town 
Board for their consideration.  The Town Administrator is authorized to enter into agreement for 
professional services not exceeding $2,500. 
 
Bonding Requirements  
Bonds shall be executed on forms prescribed or approved by the Town Administrator based on 
review by the Town Attorney as to form and State of Colorado law. Normally, bonds are used only 
on critical or complex procurement actions, such as projects for completion of public works or 
public buildings. Bonds generally are not required for purchases of vehicles, equipment, or 
standard commercial goods and services, particularly when the goods are not altered or 
customized to unique Town specifications, but may be required if deemed by the procuring 
department to be in the interests of the Town. Some examples of bonds are: 
 

▪ Bid Bonds: This bond is intended to protect the Town against a bidder’s failure to honor 
its bid. The bid bond requirement may be satisfied by receipt of a certified bank check or 
a bid bond. The bid security is submitted as guarantee that the bid will be maintained in 
full force and effect for a period of thirty (30) calendar days after the opening of bids or as 
specified in the solicitation documents. If the bidder fails to provide the bid security with 
the bid when required by the bid documents, the bid shall be deemed non-responsive. The 
bid bond should be in an amount equal to at least 5% of the vendor’s bid price. 

 
▪ Performance Bonds: This bond is intended to secure performance of the vendor’s 

performance of its obligations. A performance bond, satisfactory to the Town, may be 
required for all capital projects contracts awarded in excess of $50,000. Unless the Town 
is legally required to accept a bond in lesser amount, the performance bond shall be in 
amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the price specified in the contract. 

 
▪ Payment Bonds: This bond is intended to secure payment of subcontractors and 

suppliers. A payment bond for the protection of all persons supplying labor and material 
to the contractor or its subcontractors may be required for all capital projects contracts 
awarded in excess of $50,000. Unless the Town is legally required to accept a bond in 
lesser amount, the payment bond shall be in an amount equal to at least one hundred 
percent (100%) of the price specified in the contract.  

 
Insurance Requirement 
Contracts entered by the Town will require the selected contractor to carry the types and minimum 
amounts of insurance coverage as required by the Town. The contracts shall also contain other 
provisions regarding insurance as the Town shall require. Unless different types and/or amounts 
of coverage are determined appropriate during the development of the specifications, general 
conditions and/or final contract, the following are the types and minimum amounts of insurance 
that should be required: 
 
1) Workers’ Compensation in statutory limits (if applicable). 
2) Employer's Liability Insurance: $100,000/ each accident, $500,000/ policy limit, and $100,000/ 

each employee. 

353



Paonia Purchasing Policy  Adopted March 14, 2017 

5 
 

3) Comprehensive General Liability Insurance: $1,000,000/Occurrence 
4) Automobile Liability or Hired & Non-Owned Vehicle Liability Insurance:  $1,000,000/each 

accident (if applicable). 
5) Professional Liability Insurance: $1,000,000/Occurrence. 
 
Certain types of insurance may not be applicable to a particular contract.  Whether a particular 
type of insurance is applicable shall be determined by the requesting department head in 
consultation with the Town Administrator and Town Attorney. 
 
Bid documents should state the Town’s anticipated insurance and bond requirements for the 
contract to be awarded. Bidders should be advised that the successful bidder shall be required to 
provide certificates of insurance with the Town named as additional insured, and that the 
contractor shall not commence work until it has obtained all insurance required by the contract 
documents and such insurance has been approved by Town. 
 
Bidders’ lists may be established and maintained by the Town as an effort to promote competitive 
bidding from qualified vendors and to establish a source of suppliers. 
 
Evaluation of Bids: In addition to the bid amount, additional factors will be considered as an 
integral part of the bid evaluation process, including, but not limited to: 
 

• The bidder’s ability, capacity and skill to perform within the specified time limits; 
• The bidder’s experience, reputation, efficiency, judgment, and integrity; 
• The quality, availability, and adaptability of the supplies or materials bid; 
• Bidder’s past performance; 
• Sufficiency of bidder’s financial resources to fulfill the contract; 
• Bidder’s ability to provide future maintenance and/or service; 
• Other applicable factors as the Town determines necessary or appropriate (such as 

compatibility with existing facilities, equipment or hardware); and 
• If a bid other than the lowest bid is recommended, the requesting department must 

demonstrate how the higher bid serves the best interests of the Town. 
 

State Bids 
State Bids are quotations or bids solicited by and through the State of Colorado (Bid Information 
and Distribution System). Use of State Bids is permitted for any equipment or vehicle purchases 
on items priced from $10,000 to $150,000. Use of State Bids must be in accordance with 
applicable procedures and only current State Bids may be used. Use of State Bids would override 
the formal bidding process and procedures listed above. The determination of whether to use 
State Bids shall be made by the Town Administrator upon consultation with the requesting 
department and the Director of Finance and Administration. 
 
OPEN ACCOUNTS 
Open accounts are created by the Finance Department and are entered into with vendors that 
are expected to supply products or services to the Town on an ongoing and/or regular basis where 
the total volume or total dollar amount cannot be reasonably estimated. An open account may be 
requested by a department by contacting the Finance Department.  When an employee 
purchases an item on an open account, he/she should sign the receipt (legibly) and a copy of the 
receipt shall be given to the Finance Department. 
 
CREDIT CARD PURCHASES 

354



Paonia Purchasing Policy  Adopted March 14, 2017 

6 
 

Town credit cards are issued by the Finance Department at the request of the Department Head 
and shall be used for Town business only - no cash withdrawals are allowed.  
 
Whenever possible, Town credit cards are NOT to be used to pay for either general or 
professional services to the Town (maintenance agreements, rentals, etc.). This is because the 
IRS requires us to send 1099’s to many service providers, and the 1099 process in the Accounts 
Payable (A/P) system works only for payments made by check directly to the service provider. 
Payments charged to a credit card bypass A/P. We recommend that all services be invoiced and 
paid for by Town checks to the vendors, not charged to Town credit cards. Any exceptions must 
be preapproved by the Town Administrator. 
 
Retain a receipt for every payment or purchase made in person with your Town credit card, and 
turn the original receipt over to Finance Department as soon as possible after your trip or purchase 
with a clarification of the item purchased, the meeting attended, etc.  
 
Whenever meals are charged, write on the receipt the names of those attending and the business 
purpose of the meal. If the card was used for a phone or Internet order, provide a copy of the 
order confirmation, registration form, flyer, catalog page, or other documentation describing the 
purchase and the price. The original receipts and other documents will be held until the monthly 
bill comes in.  
 
When the bill arrives, the Finance Department will match it to the receipts and other documents 
being held. Then it will be coded to the appropriate departmental expenditure account and 
description to use for each purchase. The original receipts will remain attached to the statement.  
 
DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS PROPERTY  
The Town Administrator shall be empowered to take the following measures concerning items 
deemed obsolete or excess property (excluding real estate and vehicles) by the Department 
Heads: 
 
Transfer property from one department to another. 
Include surplus equipment as trades on replacement equipment. 
Sell property by public auction or sealed bid. Said auction or sealed bid to be advertised seven 
days in advance.  Sell for salvage or dispose of in an appropriate manner any items that are 
unsaleable or unwanted.  The Town Administrator may waive the requirements of this policy if 
Town interests are better served through other negotiations or processes. 
 
The Town Administrator will be responsible for tracking the disposal of surplus property. 
 
 

355



 

October 19, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Town Treasurer Position - Continued 

Summary:  Continued discussion regarding the position of Town Treasurer for the Town of 

Paonia. 

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

From 10/12/2021: Prior to 2015 the finance officer was the appointed treasurer, as the finance 

officer oversees and completes all duties outlined in statute and municipal code.  The addition 

of an appointed treasurer added oversight and signor authority with the removal of the finance 

officer signing ability as an additional guard against any impropriety. After reaching out to 

other municipalities, most report the finance officer is the appointed treasurer. 

 

CRS Title 31: 31-20-301 

Paonia Municipal Code: 2-3-10 Appointment of Officers 

Paonia Municipal Code: 4-2-10 Custody and Management of Funds 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

356

https://advance.lexis.com/documentpage/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=4fcf0da0-3474-4677-81e0-d8849abdff3d&config=014FJAAyNGJkY2Y4Zi1mNjgyLTRkN2YtYmE4OS03NTYzNzYzOTg0OGEKAFBvZENhdGFsb2d592qv2Kywlf8caKqYROP5&pddocfullpath=/shared/document/statutes-legislation/urn:contentItem:61P5-WX51-DYDC-J452-00008-00&pdcontentcomponentid=234176&pdteaserkey=sr0&pditab=allpods&ecomp=_ss_kkk&earg=sr0&prid=8d890744-1822-4db5-80c2-dc67f3de6ceb
https://library.municode.com/co/paonia/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=CH2AD_ART3OFEM_S2-3-10APOF
https://library.municode.com/co/paonia/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=CH4REFI_ART2GESPFU_S4-2-10CUMAFU


 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Mayor’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

357



 

November 3, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Adjournment 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

358


	Top
	.	ASF .5 - Work Session Roll Call
	ASF .5 - Work Session Roll Call

	.	ASF - 2022 Proposed Budget - Continued
	ASF - 2022 Proposed Budget - Continued
	DW Cost of Service Final Report
	WS2.2022 DRAFT Budget-Detail-110321s1
	WS3.2022 DRAFT Capital Improvement Detail
	5.11052021 PAYROLL
	6.10052021 PAYROLL TAXES & BENEFITS
	Budget_PSmithQuestions&AdminAnswers

	.	ASF 3 - Announcements
	ASF 3 - Announcements

	.	Oath of Office - Police Officer Lance Kramer
	ASF - Oath of Office - Police Officer Lance Kramer

	1.	ASF 4 - Visitors & Guests
	ASF 4 - Visitors & Guests

	2.	ASF 5 - Staff Reports - Admin Only
	ASF 5 - Staff Reports - Admin Only
	Staff Reports - Administrators Report - 11-9-2021
	KFogg_springsComments_2021
	2021 Completed Water Data Sheet_1&2MG
	20211105 BOT ATTY MEMO

	3.	ASF 6 - Disbursements
	ASF 6 - Disbursements
	1.DISBURSEMENT SUMMARY 11052021
	2.Disbursements 11092021
	3.CHASE-STMT-10232021_Redacted
	4.AMAZON-STMT-10312021_Redacted

	4.	ASF -Consent Agenda
	ASF -Consent Agenda
	Consent Agenda_ 1026_Reg Minutes
	Consent Agenda_ 1102 Special Minutes

	5.	Public Hearing - DMT Paonia, LLC Regulated Marijuana License
	ASF - Public Hearing - DMT Paonia, LLC Regulated Marijuana License
	DMT Paonia Application Packet_Redacted

	6.	Public Hearing - Paonia Purple, Inc. Regulated Marijuana License
	ASF - Public Hearing - Paonia Purple, Inc. Regulated Marijuana License 
	Paonia Purple, Inc Application Packet_Redacted

	7.	Public Hearing – Valley High, LLC Regulated Marijuana License
	ASF - Public Hearing – Valley High, LLC Regulated Marijuana License
	Valley High Application Packet_Redacted

	8.	Exec Session Town Administrator Contract Review
	ASF - Executive Session - Admin

	9.	ASF - Town Administrator Contract Review
	ASF - Town Administrator Contract Review
	20210122 Administrator Contract
	FINAL Town Admin Job Description-Exhibit A
	Admin Review_Dan Dean_Redacted
	Admin Review_Steve Chavez
	Admin Review_JoAnn Kalenak_Redacted
	Admin Review_Jakki Taylor
	Admin Review_Elyse A. Casellberry
	Admin Review_Greg Cody_Redacted
	Admin Review_Dan Reardon

	10.	ASF - Impact Fee from Enterprise Funds to Streets Capital Fund Discussion
	ASF - Impact Fee from Enterprise Funds to Streets Capital Fund Discussion

	11.	ASF - Main Avenue Fence
	ASF - Main Avenue Fence
	Fence Ordinance Memo_10182021
	2020-06 Fences Hedges & Walls

	12.	Resolution 2021-08 Town Participation in the National Opioid Settlement in Support of The State of Colorado
	ASF - Town Participation in the National Opioid Settlement in Support of The State of Colorado
	2021-08 Opioid Settlement

	13.	11/9/21 Updated Purchasing Policy - Draft Review
	ASF - Purchasing Policy
	DRAFT_Town of Paonia Purchasing Policy_2021
	Paonia Purchasing Polices - 032017

	14.	ASF - Treasurer
	ASF - Treasurer

	15.	ASF 8 - Mayor’s Report
	ASF 8 - Mayor’s Report

	16.	ASF 10 - Adjournment
	ASF 10 - Adjournment

	Bottom

